

Institute of Environmental Medicine Division of Toxicology Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

5-Fluorouracil mediated cell death signaling in colon carcinoma cells

Birce Akpinar



Stockholm 2016

All previously published papers were reproduced with permission from the publisher. Published by Karolinska Institutet. Printed by US-AB Universitetsservice © Birce Akpinar, 2016 ISBN 978-91-7676-325-4

Anneanneme

ABSTRACT

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the third most common form of cancer in the world. 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) belongs to the fluoropyrimidine-type of drugs and is commonly used in the treatment of several solid tumors. It has become the mainstay of CRC treatment at stage III and high risk stage II, either alone or in combination with other drugs. Primary drug effects include both DNA damage and RNA stress but the relative importance of each triggering points remains elusive.

In Paper I we investigated the signaling cascade leading to 5-FU-induced cell death in the colon carcinoma cell line HCT116 in more detail; especially, with respect to the early response and ensuing apoptosis. Upon 5-FU treatment, the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) was formed on the plasma membrane and this process was facilitated by p53. Increase in intracellular levels of Ca^{2+} , at least partially via L-type channels, was an early response which led to phosphorylation of at least three p53 serine sites (S15, S33, S37) upstream of caspase-8. Mutational analysis concluded that S15 phosphorylation was necessary for the processing of caspase-8 and PARP. Analyses using small molecule inhibitors indicated that Ca^{2+} -dependent calmodulin served as an intermediate factor preceding p53 phospho-activation.

Altogether, obtained results present the evidence for a novel apoptotic signaling mechanism induced by 5-FU, dependent on extracellular Ca^{2+} , involving DR-DISC and regulated by p53, p53 phosphorylations and calmodulin.

In Paper II we focused on cell death signaling pathways in 5-FU-stressed $p53^{-/-}$ cells. Using the human colon carcinoma parental cell line HCT116 and its variant lacking p53, we found that the cell death *per se* induced by 5-FU is independent of p53. However, in the absence of the tumor suppressor, the apoptotic response is delayed. In addition, the lack of p53 was associated with the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in mitochondria which resulted in necrotic characteristics. Co-treatment with zVAD-fmk and 5-FU revealed that DNA damage, reflected in phosphorylation of the histone H2AX (γ H2AX), is a consequence rather than a cause of apoptosis. Finally, our data suggested that silencing of PARP-1 function may be used as an approach to selectively sensitize p53-deficient tumor cells to 5-FU.

In Paper III we examined the possible crosstalk between apoptosis and autophagy upon 5-FU treatment. In contrast to cells in which apoptosis was blocked, either at the DISC or the mitochondrial level, p53 deficiency was associated with deregulation of autophagy in response to 5-FU. Disruption of lysosomal function with chloroquine (CQ) caused a profound reduction in the appearance of apoptotic markers, as a consequence of death receptor (DR) accumulation in lysosomes and autophagosomes.

Since RNAi targeting of critical regulators of autophagy or inhibition of lysosomal cathepsins reversed apoptosis in different manners, it is unlikely that autophagy *per se*, but rather correct receptor transport is an important factor for 5-FU-induced cell death. Interestingly, apoptosis activated via TRAIL, the cognate ligand for DR5, remained unaffected in the presence of CQ, indicating that 5-FU activates the receptor by a discrete mechanism. Through depletion of membrane cholesterol or inhibition of cholesterol transport, the cytotoxicity of 5-FU was drastically reduced, thereby supporting the idea that correct trafficking of the receptor is important for 5-FU-mediated elimination of cells.

In conclusion, this study indicates a novel chemotherapy-induced mechanism for activation of DR5, which may have important ramifications on research conducted in the apoptosis and tumor treatment field.

LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

- I. Can G¹, Akpinar B¹, Baran Y, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M (¹ denotes equal contribution).
 5-Fluorouracil signaling through a calcium–calmodulin-dependent pathway is required for p53 activation and apoptosis in colon carcinoma cells. Oncogene 2013 Sep 19; 32(38): 4529-38.
- **II. Akpinar B**, Bracht EV, Reijnders D, Safarikova B, Jelinkova I, Grandien A, Vaculova AH, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M.

5-Fluorouracil-induced RNA stress engages a TRAIL-DISC-dependent apoptosis axis facilitated by p53.*

Oncotarget 2015 Dec 22; 6(41): 43679-97.

* Correction published in Oncotarget 2016; 7(19).

III. Akpinar B, Safarikova B, Lauková J, Debnath S, Vaculova AH, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M.

Aberrant DR5 transport through disruption of lysosomal function suggests a novel mechanism for receptor activation.

Manuscript, re-submitted after revision.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. General introduction	9
1.1 Cancer	9
1.2 Modes of cell death	9
1.2.1 Apoptosis	9
1.2.1.1 The extrinsic pathway	10
1.2.1.1.1 DISC formation	11
1.2.1.2 The intrinsic pathway	12
1.2.2 Necrosis	14
1.2.3 Autophagy	14
1.2.4 Crosstalk between modes of cell death	14
2. Introduction to study	16
2.1 Colorectal cancer	16
2.1.1 Microsatellite instability	16
2.1.2 CpG island methylator phenotype	16
2.1.3 Loss of heterozygosity	17
2.1.4 Other common mutations	17
2.2 p53	18
2.3 5-Fluorouracil	19
3. Aim of the study	22
4. Materials and methods	23
4.1 Cell culture	23
4.2 Drugs and chemicals	23
4.3 Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting	25
4.4 Isolation of membrane proteins	25
4.5 DR5 dimerization	25
4.6 Release of mitochondrial AIF and cytochrome c	27
4.7 Analysis of the mitochondrial membrane potential and ROS	27
4.8 Expression vectors and retroviral transduction	27
4.9 Vectors and cloning	27
4.10 RNA isolation and RT-PCR	28
4.11 RNA interference	28
4.12 Transmission electron microscopy	29
4.13 Immunofluorescence	30
4.14 Measurement of caspase-3/-7-like activities	
4.15 Colony assay	30
4.16 Calcium measurements	31
4.17 Measurement of lactate dehydrogenase release	31
4.18 Sub-G1 analysis	31
4.19 Quantification of plasma membrane receptors	31
4.20 Immunoprecipitation of DR5	32
4.21 Statistical analysis	32

5. Summary of the papers	33
Paper I	33
Paper II	35
Paper III	36
6. Discussion	37
7. Conclusion	43
8. Significance of the study	44
9. Future Perspectives	45
10. Acknowledgements	46
11. References	48

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

$\Delta \psi_{\rm m}$	mitochondrial membrane potential
γH2AX	gamma H2A histone family, member X
5-FU	5-fluorouracil
AIF	apoptosis-inducing factor
Apaf-1	apoptotic protease activating factor-1
APC	adenomatous polyposis coli
ATG	autophagy-related
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated
ATR	ATM and RAD-3 related
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
AXIN1	axis inhibition protein 1
AXIN2	axis inhibition protein 2
Bad	Bcl-2 associated death promoter
Bak	Bcl-2 homologous antagonist/killer
Bax	Bcl-2 associated X protein
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2
Bcl-X _L	Bcl-2 related gene, long isoform
BH	Bcl-2 homology
Bid	BH3- interacting-domain death agonist
Bim	Bcl-2 interacting mediator of cell death
BRAF	B-Raf proto-oncogene, serine/threonine kinase
Ca^+2	calcium ion
CARD	caspase associated recruitment domain
caspase	cysteine-dependent aspartate-specific protease
CDK8	cyclin-dependent kinase 8
cFLIP	FLICE-like inhibitory protein
Chk	checkpoint kinase
CH ₂ THF	5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate
CIMP	CpG island methylator phenotype
CQ	chloroquine
CRC	colorectal cancer
CTNNB1	cadherin-associated protein beta 1
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride
dATP	deoxyadenosine triphosphate

DCC	deleted in colon cancer
DD	death domain
DED	death effector domain
DHFU	dihydrofluorouracil
DISC	death inducing signaling complex
DR	death receptor
DR3	death receptor 3 (TRAMP)
DR4	death receptor 4 (TRAIL-R1)
DR5	death receptor 5 (TRAIL-R2)
DR6	death receptor 6
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DNA-PK	DNA-dependent protein kinase
DPD	dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase
DSB	double strand break
dTMP	deoxythymidine monophosphate
dTTP	deoxythymidine triphosphate
dUMP	deoxyuridine monophosphate
dUTP	deoxyuridine triphosphate
dUTPase	deoxyuridine triphosphate nucleotidohydrolase
EGFR	epidermal growth factor receptor
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FADD	FAS-associated death domain
FAS	cluster of differentiation 95 (CD95)
FasL	FAS ligand (CD95L)
FBS	fetal bovine serum
FdUDP	fluorodeoxyuridine diphosphate
FdUMP	fluorodeoxyuridine monophosphate
FdUTP	fluorodeoxyuridine triphosphate
FUDP	fluorouridine diphosphate
FUDR	fluorodeoxyuridine
FUMP	fluorouridine monophosphate
FUR	fluorouridine
FUTP	fluorouridine triphosphate
FLICE	FADD-like IL-1 converting enzyme (caspase-8)
FLIP	FLICE like inhibitor protein

GTP	guanosine triphosphate
IAP	inhibitor of apoptosis protein
IKK	inhibitor of nuclear transcriptional factor kappa B
IMM	inner mitochondrial membrane
JNK	c-Jun NH ₂ -terminal protein kinase
KRAS	Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LOH	loss of heterozygosity
MAPK	mitogen-activated protein kinase/ERK
Mcl-1	myeloid cell leukemia sequence 1
MDM2	mouse double minute 2
MLH1	mutL homolog 1
MMR	mismatch repair
MOMP	mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization
MSH2	MutS protein homolog 2
MSH6	MutS protein homolog 6
MSI	microsatellite instability
MSI-H	microsatellite instability-high
MSI-L	microsatellite instability-low
MSS	microsatellite stable
mTOR	mammalian target of rapamycin
NCCD	Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death
NF-κB	nuclear transcriptional factor kappa B
NRAS	neuroblastoma RAS viral oncogene homolog
OMM	outer mitochondrial membrane
OPRT	orotate phosphoribosyltransferase
p14 ^{ARF}	cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 2A
PARP	poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase
PI	propidium iodide
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PIDD	p53-induced protein with a death domain
PLAD	pre-ligand assembly domain
PMS2	postmeiotic segregation increased 2
PRPP	phosphoribosyl pyrophosphate
PTEN	phosphatase and tensin homolog

Puma	p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis
RAIDD	RIP associated ICH/CED3 homologous protein with death domain
RIP	receptor-interacting protein
RIP1	receptor-interacting protein 1
RR	ribonucleotide reductase
rRNA	ribosomal ribonucleic acid
ROS	reactive oxygen species
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium
siRNA	small/short interfering RNA
SMAD2	SMAD family member 2
SMAD4	SMAD family member 4
tBid	truncated Bid
TGF	transforming growth factor-beta
TGFβIIR	TGF-beta type II receptor
TK	thymidine kinase
TNF	tumor necrosis factor
TNF-R	TNF receptor
TNF-RSC	TNF-R1 signaling complex
TNM	tumor-node-metastasis
TOM	translocase of the outer membrane
TP	thymidine phosphorylase
TRADD	TNF receptor-associated death domain
TRAF2	TNF-R-associated factor 2
TRAIL	TNF-related apoptosis inducing ligand
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
TS	thymidylate synthase
UK	uridine kinase
UP	uridine phosphorylase
zVAD-fmk	N-benzyloxycarbonyl-Val-Ala-Asp (O-Me) fluoromethyl ketone

1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION

1.1 Cancer

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death worldwide and the prevalence of the disease is increasing¹. Genetic susceptibility, mutations, environmental factors, diet and life style behaviors have been associated with the risk of cancer development, but a detailed description of how and why cancer is formed remains to be established. In an attempt to describe the distinguishing properties that enable tumor growth and metastatic dissemination, Hanahan and Weinberg introduced the "ten hallmarks of cancer" in the second edition of the "millennium review". These are sustaining proliferative signaling, resisting cell death, evading growth suppressors, inducing angiogenesis, enabling replicative immortality, activating invasion, metastasis, deregulating cellular energetics, avoiding immune destruction, genome instability and mutation and tumor promoting inflammation².

1.2 Modes of cell death

Depending on the triggering stimulus and the microenvironment, cells can die by several mechanisms including apoptosis, necrosis and autophagy. The Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death (NCCD) proposed recommendations to classify types of cell death according to their well-defined morphological characteristics and biochemical features³⁻⁵. Regulation of cell death pathways is important for embryonic development and maintenance of normal tissue homeostasis of adult organisms. In addition, dysregulation of cell death is associated with several diseases. It is therefore vital to investigate the mechanisms of cell death modalities in order to develop novel therapeutic approaches.

1.2.1 Apoptosis

Apoptosis is the first described and most studied mode of cell death⁶. Through this programmed elimination of damaged or unwanted cells, tissue homeostasis is maintained without invoking inflammation. Dysregulation of apoptosis has been implicated in the development of several diseases, including cancer, autoimmune diseases, and neurodegenerative disorders^{7,8}. Eventually, an improved comprehension of key molecular components and apoptosis regulatory mechanisms can help to develop targeted therapeutic strategies.

Apoptosis is executed by a family of cysteinyl aspartate proteinases, caspases, which cleave their specific substrates next to an aspartate residue during the caspase signaling cascade⁹.

They are synthesized as inactive zymogens containing an N-terminal prodomain followed by the appearance of a p20 (large) and a p10 (small) subunit¹⁰. Caspases may be classified into two subgroups on the basis of the length of their prodomain: 1) Initiator caspases containing long prodomains; 2) Effector caspases containing short prodomains.

Long prodomains of initiator caspases harbor either a death effector domain (DED) (caspase-8 and -10) or a caspase-associated recruitment domain (CARD) (caspase-2 and -9). Since initiator caspases require dimerization and autoproteolysis for their activation occurring in response to multiprotein complex formation, these domains mediate caspase-interactions with adaptor molecules (such as Apaf-1, FADD and RAIDD)¹¹.

Effector caspases (caspase-3, -6 and -7) are characterized by the presence of a short prodomain and are expressed as inactive dimers which require cleavage by upstream caspases for their activation¹². In consequence, they cleave multiple down-stream substrates, a process leading to the characteristic morphological features of apoptosis, such as cell membrane blebbing, cell shrinkage, chromatin condensation, and DNA fragmentation¹³.

Various types of cellular stress (DNA damage, growth-factor deprivation) can activate apoptosis through two main signaling mechanisms: the extrinsic (death receptor-mediated) and the intrinsic (mitochondria-mediated) pathways.

1.2.1.1 The extrinsic pathway

The extrinsic apoptotic pathway is initiated by the binding of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily ligands to their cognate death receptors (DRs). DRs are type I transmembrane proteins, characterized by the presence of cysteine rich domains in their extracellular portion which mediate ligand binding¹⁴. Furthermore, the cytoplasmic region contains approximately 80 amino acids long death domains (DDs) which enable DRs to induce cell death through homotypic domain interactions¹⁵⁻¹⁷. At present six death receptors have been described: TNF-R1^{18, 19}, FAS (CD95)^{20,21}, DR4 (TRAIL-R1)²², DR5 (TRAIL-R2)²³⁻²⁷, DR3 (TRAMP)²⁸⁻³¹ and DR6³². TNF-R1 mainly controls inflammatory, prosurvival IKK/NF-κB or JNK/c-Jun pathways whereas DR3 controls noncanonical NF-κB signaling³³⁻³⁶. FAS, DR4 and DR5 are the main mediators of the extrinsic pathway.

Most of the TNF superfamily ligands are synthesized as stable homotrimeric type II transmembrane proteins. The specific biophysical context of the ligand can determine the outcome of the intracellular signaling. For example, soluble TNF α activates the TNF-R1

mediated NF- κ B pathway, whereas membrane-displayed TNF α activates the TNF-R1 mediated extrinsic apoptotic pathway^{37, 38}.

1.2.1.1.1 DISC formation

The binding of a homotrimeric death inducing ligand to its cognate homotrimeric DR results in further conformational change, clustering of multiple ligand-receptor complexes at the plasma membrane, and ultimately formation of a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) (Fig. 1). Preassembly of DRs through their extracellular pre-ligand assembly domain (PLAD) is critical for ligand binding³⁹. Ligation to DR results in recruitment of the adaptor protein FAS-associated death domain (FADD) by means of death domain (DD) interactions and in turn, recruitment of procaspase-8 to the DISC occurs through homotypic death effector domain (DED) interactions^{40,41}.

Caspase-8 predominantly exists as a monomeric cytoplasmic protein. After recruitment to the DISC, the monomers adapt a dimeric conformation which in turn triggers catalytic activity and autocleavage⁴². In addition to interdomain cleavage, which alone can activate executioner caspases, the activation of caspase-8 requires dimerization and further posttranslational modifications such as ubiquitination⁴³⁻⁴⁵. Active caspase-8 initiates the caspase cascade by cleaving downstream effector caspases such as caspases -3, -6 and -7⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸. Once effector caspases are activated they cleave downstream substrates and thereby cause the characteristic biochemical and morphological hallmarks of apoptosis discussed above⁴⁹.

Besides FADD and caspase-8, the FLICE-like inhibitory protein (cFLIP) and caspase-10 are also recruited to the DISC. Although caspase-10 is highly homologous to caspase-8 it cannot trigger apoptosis⁵⁰. Its function in the DISC remains unknown. cFLIP is one of the major regulators of caspase-8 activation at the DISC level and has two main mRNA splice variants; cFLIP_L and cFLIP_S (long and short, respectively). Furthermore, cFLIP contains an N-terminal DED similar to the one of caspase-8 but the protein lacks a catalytic cysteine residue^{51, 52}. Both cFLIP variants are capable to dimerize at the DISC either with itself or with caspase-8/-10^{53, 54}. The role of cFLIP variants is controversial. It has been reported that these isoforms may inhibit or activate apoptosis depending on their expression levels and according to their formation of heterodimers with procaspase-8^{53,55-57}.

In TNF α -induced TNF-R1 activation a different adaptor molecule, the TNFR-associated death domain (TRADD), enables the recruitment of the DD containing TNF receptor-associated factor 2 (TRAF2) and the additional signaling molecule receptor-interacting

protein 1 (RIP1) to form the TNF-R1 signaling complex (TNF-RSC) which results in activation of IKK/NF- κ B or JNK/c-Jun pathways⁵⁸.

The FAS DISC was first described in 1995, yet the exact stoichiometry of DISC components was not clear at the time⁵⁹. The conventional model suggests that one complex includes one ligand trimer, 2-3 FADD, 2-3 caspase-8 and/or cFLIP monomers. Recently it was proposed that one ligand-receptor trimer recruits one FADD molecule which in turn recruits 6 to 10 DED-containing proteins^{41,60,61}.

1.2.1.2 The intrinsic pathway

The intrinsic apoptotic pathway is initiated by internal stimuli and activated on the mitochondrial level. Initiator signals include irradiation-induced DNA damage, chemotherapeutics, growth factor deprivation, oxidative stress as well as other stress stimuli⁶². The intrinsic pathway is controlled and regulated by the Bcl-2 gene family proteins which share structural Bcl-2 homology (BH) domains⁶³. Depending on the number of BH domains, this family can be divided into three subgroups: BH1-4, BH1-3 and, BH3-only. BH1-4 containing proteins (Bcl-2, Bcl-X_L, Mcl-1) serve anti-apoptotic functions, whereas BH1-3 (Bax, Bak) and BH3-only proteins (Bid, Bad) serve pro-apoptotic functions^{64,65}.

Upon stress signals BH3-only proteins are activated. As a result, Bax and Bak are oligomerized and localized to the outer mitochondrial membrane (OMM) causing disruption of OMM⁶⁶. Mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) triggers the release of cytochrome c from the intermembrane space of mitochondria to the cytoplasm. Subsequently, cytosolic cytochrome c binds to the apoptosis protease-activating factor 1 (Apaf-1), causing its conformational change and together with procaspase-9, in presence of dATP, an intracellular high molecular weight complex known as the apoptosome is generated⁶⁷. Procaspase-9 has a caspase-associated recruitment domain (CARD) which mediates its interaction with the CARD-containing adaptor protein Apaf-1. Through this interaction procaspase-9 is recruited to the apoptosome⁶⁸. Finally, the proteolytic activity of caspase-9 leads to processing of caspase-3⁶⁹.

Although the initial phases are characterized by distinct features, extrinsic and intrinsic pathways converge in the activation of effector caspases (caspases -3, -6 and -7), which in turn target a broad spectrum of cellular proteins, thereby, predestining cells to irreversible cell death.

Based on the requirement of the mitochondrial pathway for apoptosis induced by DRs, cells can be divided into type I and type II. In type I cells, DR-mediated caspase-8 activation is adequate to induce apoptosis whereas in type II cells (like HCT116), less caspase-8 activity is generated and involvement of the intrinsic pathway is needed for efficient apoptosis to occur. In this case, caspase-8 cleaves the cytosolic BH3-interacting-domain death agonist (Bid). Myristoylation of cleaved Bid is followed by its activation and translocation to mitochondria to form truncated Bid (tBid), which triggers the cell intrinsic apoptotic pathway through MOMP, augmenting the activation of executioner caspases and committing the cell to death (Fig. 1)⁷⁰.

Finally, cell fragments or apoptotic bodies, generated from apoptotic cells, are recognized through "find me" signals by the cell surface receptors in phagocytes and rapidly cleared by "eat me" signals before loss of membrane integrity. Therefore, inflammation and autoimmune reactions can be avoided and tissue homeostasis can be maintained⁷¹.



FIGURE 1. CD95L- and TRAIL- induced DISC formation and apoptosis induction.

Walczak H⁵⁸ Cold Spring Harb Perspec Biol 2013; 5: a008698, copyright Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press (reused and reprinted with the permission).

1.2.2 Necrosis

Necrosis can occur during normal physiological processes or as a consequence of pathological conditions⁷². This process can also be induced by microbial infections, reactive oxygen species (ROS) or by inhibition of TNF- or FAS-induced apoptosis by pan-caspase inhibitors⁷³. Hallmarks of necrosis are vacuole formation, cell swelling and loss of plasma membrane integrity, the latter which results in an uncontrolled release of the cellular content into the cell's environment and consequent damage of surrounding cells, promoting an inflammatory response in the corresponding tissues⁷⁴.

1.2.3 Autophagy

Autophagy or "self-eating" is both a survival and a cell death mechanism which occurs in lysosomes. The process of autophagy catalyzes the degradation and subsequent recycling of proteins and organelles in order to maintain cell and tissue homeostasis⁷⁵. It can act as a survival mechanism during periods of nutrient stress to enable energy production⁷⁶. The process can also be induced in response to oxidative stress or accumulation of misfolded proteins⁷⁷. It is mediated and regulated by autophagy-related (ATG) proteins. Capturing of intracellular material in double membrane-structures termed as autophagosomes is followed by the fusion with lysosomes and further degradation of autophagosomal content⁷⁵. The effect of autophagy in a disease situation is proposed to be dual since suppression as well as promotion of tumorigenesis has been reported⁷⁸.

1.2.4 Crosstalk between modes of cell death

Depending on the stimulus and environmental factors a discrete cell death mechanism is often activated. Inhibition of the primarily preferred cell death mechanism, however, can lead to the activation of a secondary pathway. Although FAS, DR4 and DR5 primarily mediate extrinsic apoptosis, they can also induce alternative pathways when apoptosis is inhibited. In addition, TNF-R1, which mainly controls inflammatory, prosurvival pathways, can activate apoptosis when NF- κ B activation is blocked. Apart from the capability to generate a complex in plasma membranes FAS/DR4/DR5 as well as TNF-R1/DR3 can form secondary complexes in the cytosol, referred to as complex II, when the respective formation of complex I is inhibited. These complexes trigger a secondary pathway; the DR4/DR5 complex II triggers survival pathways, whereas the TNF-RSC complex II mediates induction of necrosis or apoptosis (Fig. 2)⁵⁸.

Apoptosis and autophagy have been reported to act in synergy but also to counteract each other⁷⁹. It seems that apoptosis and autophagy can act as co-partners, meaning that if one

program is blocked, the other may become dominant. However, autophagy can inhibit apoptosis to promote cell survival⁸⁰. Some of the hallmarks of autophagy can also be observed in cells which undergo necrosis⁸¹. Inhibition of caspases often fails to block cell death *per se*, but instead converts it from apoptosis to necrosis. Moreover, mitochondria can act as a switchboard in the regulation of several cell death modes, including autophagy, apoptosis and necrosis⁸¹.

Altogether, even if the currently defined modes of cell death can be divided into subgroups according to their morphological and biological features, their potential crosstalk necessitates general consideration in any given experimental system.



FIGURE 2. Comparison of CD95/TRAIL-R1/R2 and TNF-R1/DR3 signaling.

Walczak H⁵⁸ Cold Spring Harb Perspec Biol 2013; 5: a008698, copyright Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press (reused and reprinted with the permission).

2. INTRODUCTION TO THE STUDY

2.1 Colorectal cancer

Colorectal cancer (CRC), the third most common form of cancer in the world, is estimated to cause 12.8% of all cancer-related deaths in the European Union in 2016, killing 173,400 individuals⁸². Its predicted death rate is the second highest of all cancers in men (16.2/100,000) and third highest in women (9.3/100,000), but these rates have dropped by 4.6% and 7.0%, respectively, since 2011 due to improved screening strategies and early diagnosis⁸³. According to the tumor-node-metastasis (TNM) system, CRC is classified into four distinct stages⁸⁴. Depending on the stage, where I is reflecting the early onset and IV an advanced disease, the five-year relative survival of patients with CRC is ranging between 90.3 and 12.5%⁸⁵. Metastasis remains the main cause of poor prognosis and mortality^{86,87}.

CRC is a heterogeneous disease with epigenetic changes and gene alterations in tumor suppressor and/or oncogenes. Since the presence or absence of these markers in many cases relate to treatment outcome they are currently evaluated for their prognostic and predictive values.

2.1.1 Microsatellite instability (MSI)

Due to the mutations in mismatch repair (MMR) genes such as *MLH1*, *MSH2*, *MSH6* and *PMS2*, base-base mispairs in microsatellite regions cannot be repaired which in turn result in changes in the length of repetitive DNA nucleotide sequences. Depending on the frequency, MSI can be divided into three subclasses: microsatellite instability-low,-high and stable (MSI-L, MSI-H, MSS)⁸⁸. Fifteen percent of CRCs harbor MSI and the prevalence in sporadic CRCs varies between 4-20% depending on the stage; 4% in stage IV, 12% in stage III and 20% in stage II^{89,90}. The results from different studies have shown that patients with MMR-deficient tumors had a better prognosis compared to patients with an intact MMR⁹¹⁻⁹³.

2.1.2 CpG island methylator phenotype (CIMP)

A tumor suppressor gene can be silenced via methylation of CG-rich domains referred to as CpG islands in their promoter regions leading to CIMP and carcinogenesis^{94,95}. The global hypomethylation in CRC and adenomas attracted most of the attention in the early years of molecular research. However, the CIMP is also associated with CRCs characterized by methylation of the *MLH1* gene that will further cause MSI⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸. Yet, since current data are

inconsistent, further studies are needed in order to evaluate the CIMP as a prognostic and a predictive marker^{99,100}.

2.1.3 Loss of heterozygosity (LOH)

Genomic loss of one of the alleles in tumor cells is termed loss of heterozygosity (LOH) and occurs in 70% of all CRCs analyzed^{101,102}. LOH on chromosome 5q occurs as an early event during the tumor transition stage. LOH on 18q and on 17p, on the other hand, occur during later tumor stages. These loci are corresponding to the localization of adenomatous polyposis coli (*APC*), deleted in colon cancer (*DCC*) and *p53* genes, indicating their important role in tumor progression^{103,104}. Currently, the association between LOH status and survival or treatment outcome is elusive¹⁰⁵⁻¹⁰⁸.

2.1.4. Other common mutations

Somatic mutations in the *APC* tumor suppressor gene cause dysregulations in cell migration, β -catenin-dependent Wnt signaling and apoptosis, and account for 70-80% of sporadic CRCs ¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹¹. Furthermore, mutations in genes in the Wnt pathway such as *CTNNB1*, *AXIN1*, *AXIN2* and *TCF4* have also been identified in CRC¹¹².

The RAS proteins are members of the guanosine-5'triphosphate (GTP)ase-binding protein family. (GTP)ase-binding proteins promote intracellular signaling downstream of the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) associated with the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signal transduction pathway. The Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene (*KRAS*) gene is mutated in approximately 30-40% of all CRCs and 85-90% of these mutations occur in exon 2 (codons 12 and 13)^{104,113,114}. Due to these mutations, the MAPK pathway is constantly activated, resulting in non-responsiveness to EGFR-targeting drugs such as cetuximab and panitumumab^{115,116}.

Phosphatidylinositide-3-kinases (PI3Ks) belong to a family of lipid kinases which control cell survival, proliferation and differentiation by binding to and phosphorylating the phosphatidylinositol (PI3P) intracellular signaling proteins. The phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase catalytic subunit, *PIK3CA*, was reported to be mutated in 15-25% of all CRCs leading to activation of the PI3-K-AKT survival pathway and thus playing a critical role in CRC pathogenesis¹¹⁴. In addition, oncogenes such as *NRAS*, *BRAF*, *EGFR*, *CDK8* and tumor suppressor genes such as *PTEN*, *SMAD4*, *SMAD2*, *TGFβIIR* are also mutated in CRC with variable frequencies^{109,117}.

The treatment strategies of CRCs are closely related to the stage of the disease. Further studies on identification of potential prognostic and predictive makers in CRC will help to

personalize the treatment by identifying the patients who will benefit from a particular drug and also, eventually, generate more targeted therapies.

2.2 p53

The *p53* gene, also known as the guardian of the genome, is a tumor suppressor gene which contributes to several facets of cell homeostasis including DNA repair, cell proliferation and differentiation, cell death and survival pathways. Activation of p53 through DNA damage, aberrant growth signals or lesions caused by chemotherapeutics drugs leads to stabilization of the protein, DNA binding and expression of p53-targeted genes, consequently promoting cell death or cell cycle arrest¹¹⁸⁻¹²¹. The expression level of the p53 protein is controlled by MDM2 via ubiquitination and/or inhibition of MDM2 by p14^{ARF}¹²². p53 exerts its anti-tumorigenic effects via transcriptional activation of pro-apoptotic genes, cell cycle-regulatory genes or DNA-repair genes¹¹⁸. The *p53* gene is mutated in about 50% of all human cancers with a variety depending on the tumor type. In addition, several mutations have been associated with tumorigenesis as well as to the tumor treatment response¹²³.

As a transcription factor, p53 can regulate both the extrinsic and the intrinsic apoptotic pathways. It can induce the expression of death receptors (DR5, DR4 and FAS) as well as the expression of pro-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family, including Bax, Bid, Noxa and Puma¹²⁴. It can also suppress the expression of decoy receptors and anti-apoptotic proteins¹²⁴. Upon DNA-damage the activation of p53 occurs via post-translational modifications which lead to the regulation of DNA repair pathways in transactivation-dependent and independent ways. The tumor suppressor is also implicated in mechanism of cell cycle arrest which allows for DNA-repair¹²⁴. In situations of excess DNA-damage, p53 functions switch from pro-survival to pro-apoptotic¹²⁴. A more detailed description of this event has, however, not yet been presented.

Similar to other carcinomas, the p53 gene is mutated in more than 50% of all CRCs although with a higher frequency in distal colon tumors¹²⁵. The p53 gene is located on 17q and LOH on this chromosome region is, as discussed above, a common trait in CRC. Eighty-five percent of these mutations are missense mutations at 'hotspot' codons 175, 245, 248, 249, 273 and 282, which all are located in the DNA binding domain of the protein¹²⁶. Studies evaluating the p53 status as a prognostic and a predictive marker are contradictory, possibly due to the differences in their methodological approaches¹²⁵. Some studies have reported that patients with mutated p53 have an increased risk of death, poor prognosis, as well as lower disease free and overall survival¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹. In addition, p53 mutations and gene

overexpression were associated with shorter survival in patients receiving 5-FU adjuvant therapy¹²⁹⁻¹³¹. Remarkably, other studies have not found any supporting evidence that p53 mutations in CRCs can be used as a prognostic marker^{128,132-134}.

2.3 5-Fluorouracil

5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) belongs to the fluoropyrimidine type of drugs and is commonly used in the treatment of solid tumors. 5-FU was originally generated by Heildelberger *et al.* in 1957 based on the finding that rat hepatomas utilized uracil more than normal liver cells. Ever since then it has become the mainstay of CRC treatment at high risk stage II, stage III and stage IV, either alone or in combination with other drugs¹³⁵. Depending on the dose and schedules, it can exert different toxicities such as myelosupression, mucositis and diarrhea¹³⁶. For this reason, the third generation of fluorouracil derivatives was introduced to lessen the drug toxicity.

5-FU is a uracil analogue which has a fluorine atom at the C5 position instead of a hydrogen atom. It enters the cells via membrane carrier-mediated transport in the same way as uracil¹³⁷. The half-life of 5-FU in the plasma is 10 to 20 minutes and approximately 80% of 5-FU is catabolized, primarily in the liver, while the rest is excreted in the urine unchanged¹³⁷. The first reaction and rate-limiting step in this process is the conversion of 5-FU to non-active dihydrofluorouracil (DHFU) by dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase (DPD) to reduce the pyrimidine ring which is followed by further enzymatic reactions¹³⁸.

5-FU is converted to three active metabolites: fluorodeoxyuridine monophosphate (FdUMP) fluorodeoxyuridine triphosphate (FdUTP) and fluorouridine triphosphate (FUTP). The first two cause DNA damage while the latter exerts its effect on RNA (Fig. 3)¹³⁹.

The thymidylate synthase (TS) enzyme converts deoxyuridine monophosphate (dUMP) to deoxythymidine monophosphate (dTMP) using reduced folate 5, 10methylenetetrahydrofolate (CH₂THF) as a cofactor. Irreversible binding of FdUMP to TS together with CH₂THF results in a stable ternary complex. Inactivation of TS leads to imbalance in deoxynucleotide pools and dTTP depletion¹⁴⁰. As a result, DNA synthesis is stopped and consequently stalled replication forks are formed¹⁴¹. In addition, FdUTP can misincorporate into the DNA directly instead of dTTP. This causes activation of uracil glycosylases and subsequently fragmentation of DNA¹⁴². Incorporation of FUTP into RNA can affect RNA processing which in turn leads to formation of immature ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs) and misfolded tRNAs¹⁴³.

Conversion of 5-FU to fluorouridine monophosphate (FUMP) can either be catalyzed directly by orotate phosphoribosyl transferase (OPRT) or indirectly through the sequential action of uridine phosphorylase (UP) and uridine kinase (UK) (Fig. 3). If phosphorylation of FUMP to fluorouridine diphosphate (FUDP) is followed by another phosphorylation it forms fluorouridine triphosphate (FUTP)¹³⁹. Alternatively, it can be converted to fluorodeoxyuridine diphosphate (FdUDP) by ribonucleotide reductase (RR). Further phosphorylation or dephosphorylation leads to the formation of FdUTP and FdUMP, respectively. An alternate pathway catalyzes the conversion of 5-FU to fluorodeoxyuridine (FUDR) which is then phosphorylated to FdUMP by the enzymatic actions of thymidine phosphorylase (TP) and thymidine kinase (TK)¹³⁹.



FIGURE 3. 5-FU metabolism.

Reprinted with permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nature Reviews Cancer] (Longley DB, Harkin DP, Johnson PG)¹³⁹, copyright (2003) <u>http://www.nature.com/nrc/journal/v3/n5/abs/nrc1074.html</u>

Treatment strategies of CRCs differ according to the stage of the disease. For stages I-II the predominant approach is surgical resection, for high-risk stage II or stage III - adjuvant chemotherapy, and for stage IV is chemotherapy. The response rate to 5-FU alone as an adjuvant chemotherapy is 10-15%¹⁴⁴. However, combinatory treatment with oxaliplatin and irinotecan increases the response rates to 40-50% with a better overall survival^{145,146}. The catalyzing efficiency and alterations of enzymes responsible for 5-FU metabolism have been investigated deeply in order to identify predictive and prognostic markers. Studies

showed that low TS expression was associated with an improved response rate to 5-FU and acute increase in TS enzyme levels can be responsible for drug resistance¹⁴⁷⁻¹⁵⁰. High levels of DPD and dUTPase correlated with resistance to TS inhibitors ^{151,152}. Moreover, increased levels of TP, UP, UK and OPRT are also coupled with 5-FU sensitivity¹⁵³⁻¹⁵⁵. It should be noted that primary tumors and metastases may differ in their sensitivity to chemotherapy.

3. AIM OF THE STUDY

The main aim of this thesis was to investigate in detail still poorly characterized stress signaling pathways elicited by 5-FU metabolites.

The specific aims were as follows:

- 1. To characterize the DISC formation induced by 5-FU in order to investigate initial apoptotic triggering points and define potential upstream regulatory factors of the caspase cascade.
- To study the involvement of the p53 protein and its phosphorylations in 5-FUmediated cell death and identify upstream regulators of p53 phospho-activations including calcium (Ca²⁺) signaling.
- 3. To examine reciprocal or unilateral cross-talk between autophagy and apoptosis with respect to 5-FU generated stress.
- 4. To analyze the mechanism of DR activation in tumor cells treated with 5-FU.

4. MATERIALS AND METHODS

A detailed description of the materials and methods used in this thesis can be found in papers I-III. The section below provides a brief summary.

4.1 Cell culture

The cell lines used in Papers I-III are summarized in Table 1.

Cell line	Growth medium	Paper I	Paper II	Paper III	Source
HCT116 wt	DMEM	~	~	~	a
HCT116 wt c-FLIP _L overexpressing	DMEM			~	a-c
HCT116 wt BclX _L overexpressing	DMEM			~	a-c
HCT116 wt FADD-DN	DMEM		~	~	a-c
HCT116 Chk2-/-	DMEM	~			b
HCT116 <i>p53^{-/-}</i>	DMEM	~	~	~	b
HCT116 <i>p53^{-/-}</i> c-FLIP _L overexpressing	DMEM		~		b-c
HCT116 <i>p53^{-/-}</i> FADD-DN	DMEM		~		b-c
A549	RPMI-1640	~			а
RKO	DMEM		~	~	а
HT-29	DMEM			~	а

a Cell lines purchased from American Type Culture Collection (ATCC, Manassas VA).

b Cell lines provided by Professor Bert Vogelstein (Department of Oncology, John Hopkins University, USA). **c** Phoenix-Ampho packaging cell line was provided by Dr. Garry Nolan, Stanford University, USA).

Growth mediums (DMEM, RPMI-1640, GIBCO) were supplemented with 10% heatinactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (v/v) (GIBCO) and PenStrep (100 U/mL penicillin, 100 μ g/mL streptomycin, Sigma-Aldrich). Throughout the experiments cells were maintained in a logarithmic growth phase at 37°C in an atmosphere containing 95% humidity and 5% CO₂. All experiments were performed using cell lines between passages 4 and 20. Cells were seeded at a density of 40,000-50,000 cells/cm² and then allowed to adhere for 24 h before being exposed to treatments. For each experiment, the treatment conditions and incubation times are indicated in the corresponding figures.

4.2 Drugs and chemicals

The drugs, chemical inhibitors, antioxidants and metabolites used in Papers I-III are summarized in Table 2. All inhibitors were added to cell cultures at least 1 h prior to drug

treatment, unless otherwise stated. Further details regarding the use of drugs and chemicals can be found in the papers included in the thesis.

Name	Source	Final concentration
Drugs		
5-Fluorouracil (5-FU)	Teva-Accord	10-768 μM
Camptothecin	Sigma-Aldrich	600 nM
Cisplatin	Ebewe	40 µM
Doxorubicin	Sigma-Aldrich	2 μM
Etoposide	Ebewe	20 µM
Leucovorin (Leu)	Hospira	4.9-78.2 μM
Metabolites	·	
Uridine	Sigma-Aldrich	375 μM
Thymidine	Sigma-Aldrich	375 μM
Recombinant Proteins		
Recombinant TRAIL	Thermo Fisher Sci.	10-100 ng/mL
Recombinant soluble DR5	Sigma-Aldrich	2 μg/mL
Inhibitors		
ВАРТА	Invitrogen	10 µM
Thapsigargin	Invitrogen	1-5 μM
Verapamil	Sigma-Aldrich	10-60 µM
N-benzyloxycarbonyl-Val-Ala-Asp(O-Me) fluoromethyl ketone (zVAD-fmk)	Peptide	10 μM
Olaparib	Selleck Chemicals	500 nM
E64d	Sigma-Aldrich	10 µM
Pepstatin A	Sigma-Aldrich	7-10 μM
Leupeptin	Sigma-Aldrich	100 µM
CA-074 methyl ester	Merck	10 µM
Calmidazolium chloride	Santa Cruz	2.5-5 μM
Fluphenazine-N-2-chloroethane	Santa Cruz	2.5-10 μM
PKC412	Novartis	0.001-5 μM
KU55933	Selleck Chemicals	7.5-10 μM
SB203580	Selleck Chemicals	10 µM
Brefeldin A (BFA)	Sigma-Aldrich	2-1000 nM
Chloroquine (CQ)	Sigma-Aldrich	10-100 μM
Bafilomycin A (Baf A)	Sigma-Aldrich	100 nM
3-methyladenine (3-MA)	Sigma-Aldrich	5 mM
U18666A	Sigma-Aldrich	0.1-5 μg/mL
Methyl-β-cyclodextrin (MβCD)	Sigma-Aldrich	2.5-5 mM
PUGNAc	Sigma-Aldrich	25-100 μM
Benzyl-a-galNAc	Sigma-Aldrich	2.5 mM
Necrostatin-1 (Nec-1)	Merck	100 μM
Necrostatin-1, inactive control	Merck	100 μM
Antioxidants		
Trolox	Merck	50 μM
N-acetylcysteine (NAC)	Merck	5 mM

Table 2.	The drugs	and chemica	al inhibitors	employed	in the study.
	<u> </u>			1 2	2

4.3 Gel electrophoresis and immunoblotting

Floating and attached cells were harvested by trypsinization, centrifuged at 1300 rpm for 5 min, washed in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and then centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min. The cell pellet was subsequently lysed for 10 min at room temperature (RT) in cOmplete Lysis-M containing cOmplete protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Roche Diagnostics). The BCA Protein assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was used to determine protein concentration. Samples were mixed with 5X Laemmli sample buffer and after denaturation for 10 min at 95°C, 20-80 µg of each sample was subjected to sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in cold Tris-glycine-SDS running buffer at 80-120 V and electroblotted to 0.45 µM nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad Laboratories) using Tris-glycine transfer buffer containing 20% methanol (v/v) for 2 h at 90 V in a wet blotting system (Bio-Rad Laboratories). Membranes were then blocked with 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20 (TBST) for 1.5 h at RT and probed with the primary antibody of interest diluted in PBS containing 1% BSA, 0.05% Tween-20 and 0.01% NaN₃ at 4°C overnight (Table 3). Membranes were washed 3 times in TBST for 5 min and 3 times in TBS for 10 min each and then incubated with horseradishperoxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies, which were diluted in blocking solution for 2 h at RT. After washing, all steps were repeated. Finally, signals were revealed by ECL (GE Healthcare Biosciences) and membranes were exposed to SuperRX-N X-ray films (Fujifilm Corporation).

4.4 Isolation of membrane proteins

Cytosolic and membrane fractions were isolated using the Qproteome Cell Compartment Kit (Qiagen) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions and, following denaturation, subjected to SDS-PAGE.

4.5 DR5 dimerization

To investigate DR5 dimers cells were treated as indicated in the related paper. After lysing for 20 min on ice in non-reducing Triton buffer (20 mM Tris base, pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 10% glycerol, 1% Triton-X100 and 1 mM EDTA) containing cOmplete phosphatase and protease inhibitors, cells were treated with benzonase nuclease (Sigma-Aldrich) for 15 min at RT. After centrifugation at 16,000 g at 4°C samples were mixed with 3X Laemmli sample buffer with or without β -mercaptoethanol. The samples containing reducing agent were denatured at 95°C for 10 min while the non-reduced samples kept at RT before subjected to SDS-PAGE, as described above.
 Table 3. Antibodies used in western blotting (WB), immunofluorescence

(IF), immunoprecipitation (IP) and flow cytometry (FCM).

Name	Source	Method-Dilution
p53 (DO-1), mAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:5000, IF 1:400
phospho-p53 (Ser 6,9,15,33,37,46,382), pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
DR5, pAb	Sigma-Aldrich	WB 1:5000
DR5 (F2/B4), mAb	a	IF 1:100, IP 1:, FCM 1:100
DR4, pAb	Sigma-Aldrich	WB 1:1000
DR4, mAb	a	IF 1:100, FCM 1:100
FAS pAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:1000, IF 1:100
Transferrin (MEM-75), mAb	Abcam	IF 1:100, FCM 1:100
FADD, pAb	Upstate Biotechnologies	WB 1:1000, IF 1:100
TRAIL, mAb	BD Biosciences	WB 1:1000
cFLIP	b	WB 1:10
caspase-8 (C15), mAb	b	WB 1:50
caspase-7 (B94-1), mAb	BD Biosciences	WB 1:1000
cleaved-caspase-3, pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
caspase-2 clone 35, mAb	BD Biosciences	WB 1:5000
Bcl-x _L , pAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:1000
PARP (4C10-5), mAb	BD Biosciences	WB 1:1000
cleaved PARP (Asp214), mAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
cleaved lamin A, mAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000, IF 1:200
ATF-3 pAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:1000
anti-PAR mAb	Trevigen	WB 1:1000
ATM (D2E2), mAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
γH2AX (Ser139), pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
PERK,	Cell signaling	WB 1:3000
SQSTM1 (p62) mAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:2000
Atg5, pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
Atg7, pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
beclin, pAb	Cell Signaling	WB 1:1000
LC3, pAb	MBL	WB 1:5000, IF 1:100
anti-AIF (E-1), mAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:1000
cytochrome c	BD Biosciences	WB 1:2000, IF 1:400
Tom-40 pAb	Santa Cruz	WB 1:10000
GAPDH pb	Trevigen	WB 1:5000
tubulin (B-5-1-2), mAb	Sigma-Aldrich	WB 1:10000
Ku80, mAb	BD Biosciences	WB 1:10000
Secondary antibodies		
Anti mouse, rabbit, goat	Thermo Fischer	WB 1:5000-10000
Alexa 488 anti-mouse, rabbit, goat	Molecular Probes	IF 1:200, FCM 1:200
Alexa 594 anti-mouse, rabbit, goat	Molecular Probes	IF 1:200, FCM 1:200

a Provided by Dr. L Andêra, Academy of Sciences, Prague, Czech Republic

b Provided by Prof. PH Krammer and Dr. I Lavrik, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany

4.6 Release of mitochondrial AIF and cytochrome c

To detect the release of mitochondrial AIF and cytochrome c, cells were treated, harvested by trypsinization, centrifuged at 1300 rpm for 5 min and washed in PBS. Subsequently, cells were permeabilized with digitonin (0.01% w/v) in fractionation buffer (150 mM KCl, 10 mM Tris, 1 mM MgCl₂) for 15 min at RT, centrifuged at 13,000 g to separate the cytosol from pelleted nuclear/mitochondrial/membrane proteins. After determination of protein concentration by the BCA protein assay, samples were subjected to SDS-PAGE as described above.

4.7 Analysis of the mitochondrial membrane potential and reactive oxygen species (ROS)

Cells were incubated for 20 min in Hank's balanced salt solution (Life Technologies) containing 0.1 μ M tetra-methyl-rhodamine-ethyl ester (TMRE, Life Technologies). Loss of mitochondrial membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi_m$) in live cells was then examined by flow cytometric analysis of mitochondrial accumulation of TMRE.

For assessment of mitochondrial ROS, cells were stained with MitoSOXTM Red (Life Technologies) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. Analyses were performed with a FACScan Becton Dickinson flow cytometer and the accompanying software.

4.8 Expression vectors and retroviral transduction

Retroviral particles were produced by transient transfection of the Phoenix-Ampho packaging cell line (kindly provided by Dr. GP Nolan, Stanford University, USA) using the retroviral expression vectors pLXIN-hBcl-X_L, pLXIN-hFADD and pXIN-hFLIP_L which have been described previously¹⁵⁶. Transduced cells were selected by treatment with Geneticin (1 mg/mL, Invitrogen) for one week.

4.9 Vectors and cloning

Wild type (*wt*) p53 and p53 (S15A) cDNA's were kindly provided by Prof. Moshe Oren (Weizmann Institute of Science, Rehovot, Israel). Subsequent to deletion of the stop codons to allow GFP expression, *wt* and mutated p53 sequences were subcloned into the Xba1-BamH1 site of the *pCDH-CMV-MCS-EF1-copGFP* expression vector (System Biosciences). Lentiviral packaging was accomplished using the LentiSuiteTM in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions (System Biosciences). Then, transductions of HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells were performed by incubation under normal culturing conditions in the presence

of virus for 24 h. Transfected cells were then sorted using the FACSVantage/DiVa system (Becton Dickinson) together with the accompanying software.

4.10 RNA isolation and RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated with the RNAeasy mini kit (Qiagen) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. The Maxima First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific) or Transcriptor First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Roche) were used for cDNA synthesis. Gene expression was measured using the Maxima SYBR Green qPCR Master Mix (Thermo Scientific) or the FastStart SYBR Green Master (Roche) together with the Applied Biosystems 7500 Real-time PCR technology (Applied Biosystems). 50 ng cDNA and 300 nmol primers were used (Table 4) in each reaction. Relative gene expression was calculated by the $2^{-\Delta\Delta}$ Ct procedure using expression of actin and GAPDH for normalization.

Lubic II I Innerb employed in the study.	Table 4.	Primers	employed	in	the	study.
---	----------	---------	----------	----	-----	--------

Primers	Forward sequence	Reverse sequence
DR5	TCAGGTGAAGTGGAGCTAAGTC	GTGTACAATCACCGACCTT
DR4	ACTCGCTGTCCACTTTCGTCTCTGA	AGGCATCCCCTGGGCCTGCTGTA
Actin	GCTGTGCTATCCCTGTACGC	GAGGGCATACCCCTCGTAGA
GAPDH	CCTGGCCAAGGTCATCCATG	TGAGGTCCACCCTGTTG

4.11 RNA interference

Silencing of protein expression in cells was performed using the Lipofectamine RNAiMAX (Life Technologies) or INTERFERin transfection reagent (Polyplus transfection) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

In brief, when reaching 60-80% confluence, cells were transfected in complete cell culture medium without PenStrep using 10-20 nM final concentration of siRNA and 3.5 μ l/mL transfection reagent (Table 5). Depending on the experiment, target protein suppression 24-72 h post-transfection was confirmed by SDS–PAGE as described above.

Table 5. The siRNAs employed in the study.

Name	Source
Human TNFSF10, Silencer Select	Thermo Fischer Scientific
Hs_TNFSF10_6, FlexiTube	Qiagen
Hs_TNFSF10_7, FlexiTube	Qiagen
Human TNFRSF10A (8797), ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Human TNFRSF10A, Silencer Select	Thermo Fischer Scientific
Human TNFRSF10B (8795), ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Human TNFRSF10B, Silencer Select	Thermo Fischer Scientific
siDR5(h)	Santa Cruz
Human FAS (355), ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Human CASP8 (841), ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Hs_TP53.9, FlexiTube	Qiagen,
Hs_ATM_8, FlexiTube	Qiagen,
Hs_ATM_9, FlexiTube	Qiagen,
Hs_ATM_12, FlexiTube	Qiagen,
siPARP1, HP Custom siRNA	Qiagen,
Human BCN1, ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
SQSTM1, Silencer Select	Thermo Fischer Scientific
Human ATG5, ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Human ATG7, ON-TARGET plus, SMARTpool	Dharmacon
Negative Control No. 1, Silencer Select	Thermo Fischer Scientific
Human Non-Targeting Pool 1, siGENOME	Dharmacon

4.12 Transmission electron microscopy (TEM)

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) was used to determine changes in the morphology of detached (paper II) and attached (paper III) cells in response to treatment. Cells were trypsinized, spun down, resuspended in fixing solution (2.5% w/v, glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4) for 30 min at RT. After washing in 0.1 M phosphate buffer, cells were centrifuged, pellets post fixed in 2% (w/v) osmium tetroxide in 0.1 M phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) for 2 h at 4°C, dehydrated in ethanol followed by acetone, and embedded in LX-112 (Ladd). Serial ultrathin sections (~40–50 nm) were cut using a Leica EM UC 6 ultramicrotome. The contrast of the sections was subsequently enhanced with uranyl acetate followed by lead citrate and examined in a Tecnai 12 Spirit Bio TWIN transmission electron microscope (FEI) at 100 kV. Digital images were recorded using a Veleta camera (Olympus Soft Imaging Solutions).

4.13 Immunofluorescence

Cells were seeded onto coverslips and treated as indicated in the papers. After fixation for 10 min at 4°C in 4% formaldehyde, the cells were washed in PBS. For proteins other than transmembrane proteins, cells were permeabilized in PBS containing 0.1% Triton X-100 for 10 min at RT, blocked with 1% BSA in PBS for 1 h at RT and incubated with the primary antibodies of interest (previously blocked with 1% BSA for 2 h at RT) at 4°C overnight in a humidity chamber (Table 3). After washing the samples, secondary antibodies diluted in 1% BSA were added for 2 h at RT and protected from light. Nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst 33342 (10 μ g/mL in PBS). Between all steps, the cells were washed 3 times in PBS for 5 min each. Finally, the coverslips were mounted using Vectashield H-1000 (Vector Laboratories) or Prolong Gold antifade reagent with DAPI (Life Technologies).

Plasma membrane co-staining was achieved by incubating fixed cells in the presence of FITC-conjugated cholera toxin B (CTB; $0.2 \ \mu g/mL$; Sigma-Aldrich) for 15 min at RT in the dark. Similarly, free cholesterol was detected by Filipin III (50 $\ \mu g/mL$, Sigma Aldrich) in PBS supplemented with 10% FBS and incubation for 2 h at RT in the dark.

Lysosomes were visualized with LysoTracker® Red DND-99 (Molecular probesTM) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, 100 nM of this dye was added to the media of control or treated cells for 30 min in advance of washing and fixing procedures. All samples were examined under a Zeiss LSM 510 META confocal laser scanner microscope (Carl Zeiss).

4.14 Measurement of caspase-3/-7-like activities

After washing, cells were suspended in PBS and mixed with peptide substrate diluted in 100 mM HEPES, 10% sucrose, 5 mM DTT, 0.001% NP-40 and 0.1% CHAPS, pH 7.3. Cleavage of the caspase-3/-7-like substrate Ac-DEVD-AMC (acetyl Asp-Glu-Val-Asp 7-amido-4-methylcoumarin, Peptide Institute) was monitored in a Fluoroscan II plate reader (Labsystems) at excitation and emission wavelengths of 355 nm and 460 nm, respectively.

4.15 Colony assay

Eighteen cells per cm² were seeded in 100 mm cell culture dishes one day in advance of experiments and then treated for 48 h. Drug-containing media were then replaced with normal media and cell colonies were allowed to form over 10 days before fixation in 100% methanol on ice for 10 min and staining in 0.04% (w/v) crystal violet solution.

4.16 Calcium measurements

Intracellular calcium levels were monitored using the Fluo-4 AM fluorescent indicator (Invitrogen). In brief, 4 μ M of the calcium probe was added to cells 30 min in advance of treatments. Time-lapse analysis of living cells was then performed using the Zeiss LSM 510 META confocal laser scanner microscope or the FACS Calibur system in combination with the CellQuest v.3.3 software (Becton-Dickinson).

4.17 Measurement of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release

The amount of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) released, a marker for plasma membrane integrity, or necrosis, was determined using the fluorometric Cyto Tox-ONE Homogeneous Membrane Integrity Assay (Promega) in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions.

4.18 Sub-G1 analysis

Cells were harvested and fixed in 70% ethanol for 1 h at 4°C. Repeated washes in cold PBS and RNase A treatment (100 μ g/mL, Invitrogen) for 1 h at 37°C were followed by propidium iodide staining (40 μ g/mL, Sigma-Aldrich). Analysis in the FL3 channel in DDM mode was performed using the BD Accuri C6 system in combination with the BD CSampler software (Becton-Dickinson).

4.19 Quantification of plasma membrane receptors

The level of plasma membrane receptors was detected in cells after incubation with specific antibodies using flow cytometry analysis of live cells. Cells were treated, harvested by trypsinization, centrifuged at 1300 rpm for 5 min, washed in ice cold PBS supplemented with 5% FBS and centrifuged at 2000 rpm for 10 min. Cells were incubated with primary antibodies (anti-DR4, -DR5, and -transferrin) diluted 1:100 in washing solution (Table 3). Cells were then washed twice, and incubated at 4°C for 30 min with the secondary antibody (AlexaFluor-488-conjugated donkey anti-mouse-IgG). After washing twice, the cells were stained at 4°C for 15 min with 7-AAD (1 μ g/mL, Molecular ProbesTM), which allowed for the gating of living cells, and analyzed by flow cytometry (FACScan, Becton Dickinson). The 7-AAD-negative cells were subjected to receptor analysis (Cell Quest software). Green fluorescence indicating the amount of the receptor present at the plasma membrane versus cell counts are visualized in histograms, enabling comparisons of control and treated cell populations, and related to control cell samples lacking the specific primary antibody.

4.20 Immunoprecipitation of DR5

Cells were lysed on ice for 15 min in NP-40 lysis buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40) supplemented with PMSF 0.1 μ g/mL, cOmplete protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Roche). After sonication and centrifugation 1 mg of the protein extract was incubated with 2 μ g DR5 mAb (clone F2/B4) at 4°C overnight. Proteins were then bound to Protein-G Sepharose 4 Fast Flow (GE Healthcare) and the beads washed 3 times in lysis buffer for 5 min each, diluted 1:1 in reducing 2xLaemmli buffer, and subjected to SDS-PAGE after denaturation.

4.21 Statistical analysis

The results are expressed as means \pm standard deviations (SD). The GraphPad Prism 5.02 software and the t-test were used for analysis.

5. SUMMARY OF THE PAPERS

Paper I:

Can G¹, **Akpinar B¹**, Baran Y, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M

(¹ denotes equal contribution).

5-Fluorouracil signaling through a calcium–calmodulin-dependent pathway is required for p53 activation and apoptosis in colon carcinoma cells.

Oncogene 2013 Sep 19; 32(38): 4529-38.

5-Fluorouracil (5-FU), a uracil analogue, is used to treat various solid cancers, including colon carcinoma. Active metabolites of this compound develop their effects via DNA damage and RNA stress, but the relative importance of each triggering points remains elusive.

In Paper I we investigated the effects of 5-FU-induced cell death in the colon carcinoma cell line HCT116 in more detail, especially with respect to initial targets and ensuing death signaling. Upon 5-FU treatment, not only DR5 but also the FAS receptor accumulated in the plasma membranes. However, only DR5 is required for effective formation of the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) and initiation of apoptosis as confirmed by siRNA silencing, immunostaining and fractionation of the membranes of control and treated cells. In addition, the process is facilitated by p53.

To identify initial factors important for stabilization of p53 and formation of the DISC, the Ca^{2+} -chelator BAPTA, the RIP1-kinase inhibitor NEC1, the antioxidant Trolox, the acid protease inhibitor pepstatin A or the cathepsin B inhibitor CA-072 were used in combination with 5-FU. We found that lysosomal proteases promote effector caspase activity downstream of the DISC formation, while Ca^{2+} -dependent calmodulin-mediated phosphorylation of at least three p53 serine phosphorylation sites (S15, S33, S37) act upstream of caspase activation.

Since the level of phospho-p53 activation at the serine 15 (S15) site was significantly decreased in the presence of BAPTA, we reintroduced *wt* and p53 mutated at the S15 phospho-site into HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cells using lentiviral transfection technology and found that the S15 phosphorylation is necessary for activation of caspase-8 and cleavage of PARP. Indeed, intracellular levels of Ca²⁺ rose during the early hours of 5-FU treatment and remained for as long as 13 h. Ca²⁺ was found to enter the cells at least partially via L-type channels and Ca²⁺ originating from the endoplasmic reticulum contributed neither to the

phospho-p53 status nor the cell death. In line with these observations, HCT116 cells harboring a mutant S15 p53 showed a 50% reduction in their apoptotic response to 5-FU.

Altogether, the obtained results present the evidence of a novel apoptotic mechanism induced by 5-FU, dependent on extracellular Ca^{2+} , involving DR-DISC and regulated by p53, p53 phosphorylation and calmodulin.

Paper II:

Akpinar B, Bracht EV, Reijnders D, Safarikova B, Jelinkova I, Grandien A, Vaculova AH, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M.

5-Fluorouracil-induced RNA stress engages a TRAIL-DISC-dependent apoptosis axis facilitated by p53.

Oncotarget 2015 Dec 22; 6(41): 43679-43697.

Although 5-fluorouracil (5-FU) was discovered more than 50 years ago it is still commonly used for the treatment of several solid tumors. Primary drug effects relate to both DNA and RNA damage. The tumor suppressor protein p53 is mutated or not functional in most human cancers. Therefore, in Paper II we focused on cell death signaling pathways in 5-FU-stressed $p53^{-/-}$ cells.

Using the human colon carcinoma parental cell line HCT116 and its variant lacking p53, we found that the cell death *per se* induced by 5-FU is independent of p53. However, in the absence of the tumor suppressor, the appearance of all apoptotic markers examined, including loss of the mitochondrial membrane potential (MMP, $\Delta \Psi_m$), release of cytochrome *c* into the cytosol, DEVDase (caspase-3/-7-like) activity and poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) cleavage was delayed.

Notably, in contrast to its *wt* counterpart, the HCT116 $p53^{-/-}$ cell line exposed to 5-FU exhibited a necrotic morphology and prominent release of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH). However, since these necrotic features were eliminated by a pan-caspase inhibitor (zVAD-fmk), they were concluded to be caspase-dependent. In addition, suboptimal apoptotic conditions due to lack of p53 were associated with the formation of ROS in mitochondria. Similar to the parental cell line, 5-FU treatment of p53-deficient cells led to formation of DISC in a TRAIL-dependent manner. Co-treatment with zVAD-fmk and 5-FU revealed that DNA damage reflected in phosphorylation of the histone H2AX (γ H2AX) is a consequence of apoptosis. Finally, our data suggest that silencing of PARP-1 function can sensitize the p53-deficient cells to 5-FU.

In conclusion, the data presented here enhance our understanding of factors that limit the efficacy of 5-FU. By excluding DNA as the main stress target in at least certain types of cells, our observations suggest alternatives to currently used synergistic treatment regimens.

Paper III:

Akpinar B, Safarikova B, Lauková J, Debnath S, Vaculova AH, Zhivotovsky B, Olsson M. Aberrant DR5 transport through disruption of lysosomal function suggests a novel mechanism for receptor activation.

Manuscript, re-submitted after revision.

Autophagy and apoptosis determine the turnover of cytosolic organelles and intact cells, respectively. In Paper III, reciprocal and/or unilateral interactions between these processes were examined in 5-FU-treated tumor cells employing a combination of chemical inhibitors, RNAi and genetic approaches. In contrast to cells with blocked apoptosis, either at the DISC or the mitochondrial level, p53 deficiency was associated with signs of deregulation of autophagy in response to 5-FU, including failure to induce degradation of p62 and elevated expression of LC3. Of the strategies utilized to prevent autophagy, disruption of lysosomal function with chloroquine (CQ) caused a profound reduction in the levels of apoptotic markers in 5-FU treated cells, with DR5, a death receptor member of the TNF-family essential for 5-FU-induced apoptosis, accumulating in lysosomes and autophagosomes upon treatment.

Since 3-MA, RNAi targeting of critical regulators of autophagy or inhibition of lysosomal cathepsins reversed apoptosis in different manners, it is unlikely that autophagy *per se*, but rather correct receptor transport is an important factor for 5-FU-induced cell death. Interestingly, apoptosis activated via TRAIL, the cognate ligand for DR5, remained unaffected in the presence of CQ, indicating that 5-FU activates the receptor by a discrete mechanism. A distinction between ligand- and chemotherapy-induced apoptosis could also be confirmed by introducing malfunction of protein transport from the ER to the Golgi with brefeldin A. Through depletion of membrane cholesterol or inhibition of cholesterol transport with methyl- β -cyclodextrin or U18666A, respectively, the cytotoxicity of 5-FU was drastically reduced. Moreover, as with CQ, treatment with U18666A alone or in combination with 5-FU led to the accumulation of DR5 in the cytosol, thereby supporting the idea that correct trafficking of the receptor is important for 5-FU-mediated elimination of cells.

In conclusion, this study indicates a novel chemotherapy-induced mechanism for activation of DR5, which may have important ramifications on research conducted in the fields of apoptosis and tumor treatment.

6. DISCUSSION

DR5, one of the TRAIL receptors, has a prospective therapeutic application in cancer therapy since it was reported that TRAIL has the ability to kill cancer cells selectively¹⁵⁷. Therefore, a better understanding of DR5 signaling pathways can help to develop new targeted therapeutic approaches. Analysis of tumor samples revealed that expression of DR5 is downregulated progressively with increased stage in CRC and mutations in DRs have been associated with tumor progression¹⁵⁸⁻¹⁶². 5-FU can trigger the extrinsic apoptotic pathway, however detailed information related to how the signaling reaches to the DRs is still missing.

In the present study we investigated the 5-FU-mediated cell death signaling in HCT116 cells.

We have shown that upon 5-FU treatment, both FAS and DR5 localized to the plasma membrane but only the latter promoted caspase processing. In paper I, we concluded that a significant increase in intracellular calcium levels particularly through the L-type voltage-dependent calcium channels is an early response to 5-FU.

Stabilization and function of p53 is regulated not only by MDM2 but also by posttranslational modifications including phosphorylations. In humans, p53 can be phosphorylated on several serine and threonine residues upon DNA damage, ionizing radiation and endoplasmic reticulum stress leading to different molecular outcomes¹⁶³. In support of our observations, alterations in the intracellular Ca²⁺ level have previously been linked to the regulation of apoptosis and p53 phosphorylations¹⁶⁴.

We confirmed that p53 is stabilized in a time-dependent manner and also phosphorylated on several sites (ser15, 33, 37, 46, 6, 9, 392) upon 5-FU treatment as another early response. Therefore, we speculated that the Ca^{2+} response may be associated with p53 phosphorylations. There are several kinases that may promote p53 phospho-activation but due to the increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} levels we focused on those that are Ca^{2+} -related. Indeed, inhibition of Ca^{2+} by the chemical inhibitor BAPTA revealed that at least three serine residues (ser15, 33, 37) were affected. Out of three, only ser15, upstream of DISC formation, had an important role in caspase-8 and -3 activities and PARP cleavage. It should also be noted that mutation of the ser15 position did not affect DR-5 dimerization indicating that 5-FU-induced DISC formation is indeed p53-independent.

In agreement with our data, it has been reported that the ser15 phosphorylation site is important for efficient p53 stabilization and apoptosis¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁷. Inhibition of ATM and

p38MAP kinase using chemical inhibitor or siRNA did not alter ser15 phosphorylation. Although this is in contrast with previous studies, suggesting that ATM, Chk2 and p38MAP kinases phosphorylate ser15, it is in support of the fact that alternative routes do exist¹⁶⁸⁻¹⁷⁰. Despite the discrepancy, we do not ignore that these factors can be important in 5-FU-mediated cell death by other mechanisms. Moreover, 5-FU-treatment of Chk2-deficient cells caused slower processing of caspase-8 and -3 compared to the parental cell line without affecting ser15 phosphorylation, demonstrating that this kinase may have a role in 5-FU induced apoptosis separated from p53.

Ligation of TRAIL to its cognate receptors DR4 and DR5 leads to DISC formation and apoptosis¹⁵⁷. Thus, we subsequently tested whether 5-FU-induced DISC formation involves TRAIL. A soluble recombinant DR5 lacking the intracellular domain did not alter the apoptotic response to 5-FU whereas downregulation of the TRAIL protein by siRNA in the same treatment condition abrogated caspase-3 and PARP cleavage, indicating that 5-FU mediated apoptosis depends on intracellular TRAIL. Interestingly, ER stress-induced ligand independent DR5 activation has also been described¹⁷². In addition, co-treatment with recombinant TRAIL and 5-FU sensitized the HCT116 cells to apoptosis (Fig. 4A). Similar to our findings, Ganten *et al.* reported that 5-FU-induced DISC formation increased the apoptotic response to TRAIL by means of cFLIP downregulation¹⁷¹.

There are conflicting data regarding p53 status and the tumor response to chemotherapy. Studies in breast and colon cancer cell lines and xenograft tumors revealed that loss of p53 reduced chemosensitivity to 5-FU^{130,150,173}. In addition, p53 point-mutations and overexpression in CRC patients at stage III and IV were associated with poor prognosis and resistance to chemotherapy^{130,131,174}. On the other hand, Paradiso *et al.* could not find any correlation between p53 status and 5-FU sensitivity¹⁷⁵. However, it should be noted that in 40-50% of all p53 overexpression incidents there is no correlation with mutations of the corresponding gene. In consideration of reported data, it seems that p53 can affect the response in a disease stage-dependent manner.

In paper II, we performed an evaluation of sensitivity to 5-FU with respect to p53 cell status, which, given that the tumor suppressors can be activated both upon DNA and RNA damage, is of particular importance ¹⁷⁶. In the absence of p53, DR4 and DR5 were still upregulated both at the protein and the mRNA levels, although to a lesser extent since they are p53 targeted genes. For this reason, the DR5-DISC was still formed in a slow manner. Downregulation of caspase-8, DR5, DR4 or TRAIL abrogated cell death independently from the p53 status. A 5-FU-induced cell cycle arrest in G1-S phase and all apoptotic

markers that were identified in $p53 \ wt$ cells were also present in $p53^{-/-}$ cells but less pronounced and at later time points, indicating that absence of p53 does not change the cell death mode. Altogether, 5-FU-induced formation of the DISC should not be considered as a p53-dependent, but rather a p53-facilitated event.

Involvement of ROS in apoptosis and its relation to p53 were analyzed in several studies in order to cope with drug resistance¹⁷⁷⁻¹⁸⁰. HCT116 cells are type II cells which require involvement of mitochondria during apoptosis. We confirmed that absence of p53 caused an inefficient apoptosis coupled with ROS formation. Based on the TEM images, we observed that even if the cell death mode in $p53^{-/-}$ cells was apoptosis, they displayed features of necrotic morphology and was further characterized by release of LDH. We next questioned if this slow pace apoptosis can force $p53^{-/-}$ cells to die in other ways. Cotreatment with zVAD-fmk, uridine and Trolox abrogated the LDH release. However, formation of mitochondrial ROS was caspase-independent and thus may serve to mediate necrotic features. In reverse, 5-FU co-treatment with Trolox did not affect caspase processing. We also ruled out the programmed necrosis due to the absence of mitochondrial AIF release which can be invoked by Ca²⁺ overload¹⁸¹. In conclusion, under the experimental conditions used, formation of mitochondrial ROS did not contribute to overall caspase processing in $p53^{-/-}$ cells but did contribute to release of LDH.

It has been suggested that p53 can both induce and suppress autophagy depending on the type of stress^{182,183}. In paper III, we tested whether there is a cross-talk between autophagy and apoptosis upon 5-FU treatment. We observed signs of autophagy deregulation in $p53^{-/-}$ cells. Inhibition of apoptosis at DISC or mitochondria level, on the other hand, did not interfere with 5-FU-induced autophagy. In reverse, downregulation of autophagy related proteins by siRNA did not reduce 5-FU generated apoptosis. However, CQ and 5-FU cotreatment caused a prominent decrease in the apoptotic response at the caspase-8 level without altering the cFLIP isoforms thus positioning the effect upstream of DISC formation. As 5-FU-induced apoptosis was maintained in cells where key autophagy factors had been targeted by siRNA, we concluded that the effect of CQ is independent from autophagy. Moreover, CQ as a single agent increased p53 and DR5 protein levels without any apparent induction of cell death. At the time, we assumed this to be an effect of a dramatic change in receptor localization. Related to this observation, Park *et al.* reported that CQ can up-regulate DR5 mRNA levels via reduction in the E3 ligase of DR5¹⁸⁴.

However, CQ treatment did not alter the levels of DR5 in the plasma membrane, nor did it alter TRAIL induced apoptosis, indicating that the receptor can be activated by at least two

different mechanisms. Accordingly, we speculated that there can be a functional link between apoptosis and lysosome functions, since we observed that CQ treatment led to the accumulation of DR5 in lysosomes and autophagosomes. Akazawa *et al.* showed that internalization of DR5 promotes lysosomal permeabilization and apoptosis¹⁸⁵. However, co-treatment with cathepsin inhibitors rather promoted the 5-FU toxicity through p53 stabilization. Likewise, co-treatment with brefeldin A (BFA) increased PARP cleavage upon TRAIL-induced apoptosis but not upon 5-FU treatment, supporting that inhibition of ER to Golgi transport affected TRAIL- and 5-FU-induced apoptosis differently.

Cholesterol is an important component for membrane integrity, signal transduction and lipid raft formation, the latter has been associated with DR activation and formation of the DISC¹⁸⁶. Indeed, inhibition of cholesterol trafficking, causing an increase in intracellular levels of soluble cholesterol, served to verify that 5-FU induced apoptosis requires cytoplasmic transportation of DR5.

MSI and components of the MMR system have been investigated as predictive and prognostic markers. Results of retrospective studies and meta-analyses suggested that patients with a deficient MMR system had better prognosis compared to those with an intact MMR system^{91,93,187,188}. Investigations of MMR deficiency and resistance to 5-FU have presented conflicting results which can be due to analysis of different CRC stages between studies¹¹⁷. HCT116 is a MLH1 deficient cell line which can affect the sensitivity to 5-FU. However, we did not see any difference in generated apoptotic markers though Meyers *et al.* showed that reintroduction of MLH1 sensitized HCT116 cells to 5-FU (Fig. 4B)¹⁸⁹. The disparity of the results can be an outcome of varying drug concentrations, exposure times, and exposure schedules. Clinical studies have also shown that 5-FU toxicity may vary between treatment regimens¹³⁶.

The TS enzyme has two binding sites; one for the nucleotide and one for CH₂THF. Irreversible binding of FdUMP to TS together with CH₂THF results in a stable ternary complex leading to depletion of cellular thymidine pools and DNA damage¹³⁹. In clinics, leucovorin is used in combination with 5-FU to increase the toxicity and drug response^{139,150}. Leucovorin can stabilize the ternary complex by increasing the intracellular levels of reduced folate. To investigate the link between DNA and RNA damage and 5-FU-mediated apoptosis, we treated the cell together with leucovorin, uracil or thymidine. Co-treatment of leucovorin and thymidine together with 5-FU did not increase the apoptotic response whereas addition of excess uridine rescued the cells regardless of p53 status. Therefore, we speculated that 5-FU is not exerting its effect through TS inhibition in some

tumor cell lines. In support to this, MLH1 reintroduced HCT116 cells had the same sensitivity to 5-FU as their MLH1-deficient parental cell line (Fig. 4B). In addition, inhibition of caspase activity abolished the formation of γ H2AX and PAR which are regarded as DNA damage markers, indicating that DNA damage is a consequence of apoptosis and not *vice versa*. In fact, ATM inhibition in p53 *wt* as well as PARP1 inhibition in the absence of p53 increased the 5-FU toxicity, indicating that modulation of DNA repair systems can generate a synergistic effect with 5-FU-induced RNA stress.

Taken together, we concluded that in our experimental settings the effects of 5-FU is more directed to RNA rather than to DNA damage. In agreement with our findings, 5-FU and its metabolites have shown to affect proteins related to RNA metabolism. Moreover, 5-FU metabolites have been implicated in the downregulation of ribosomal proteins (Fig. 5)¹⁹⁰.



FIGURE 4. TRAIL sensitizes HCT116 cells to 5-FU (A) and presence of the MLH1 protein does not affect drug-induced apoptosis (B).

HCT116 cells were either treated with 1-10 ng/mL TRAIL or 384 μ M 5-FU alone or with combination of both for 16 h. p53, processing of PARP and caspase-8 were analyzed by western blot (4A). HCT116 *wt* and HCT116 MLH1^{+/+} cells were treated with 768 μ M 5-FU for 24 h and PARP, p53, MLH1 were analyzed by western blot (4B). GAPDH served as loading control (Fig. 4A-4B).





7. CONCLUSION

5-FU-induced apoptosis, in the human colon carcinoma cell line HCT116, depends on p53facilitated formation of DR-DISCs. This process is, at least partly, regulated by an increase in intracellular Ca^{2+} levels via L-type channels and successive Ca^{2+} -calmodulin-kinase regulated phosphorylation of at least three p53 serine phosphorylation sites (S15, S33, S37). Mutation of the serine 15 phosphorylation site significantly reduces the apoptotic response to 5-FU.

The absence of p53 results in mitochondrial ROS formation, necrotic morphology and disruptions in autophagic induction. In addition, silencing of PARP-1 function sensitizes p53-deficient cells to 5-FU.

5-FU induces primarily RNA stress which involves a TRAIL-DISC-dependent apoptosis axis facilitated by p53.

Disruption of lysosomal function with chloroquine reduces the levels of apoptotic markers in 5-FU treated cells and leads to accumulation of DR5 in lysosomes and autophagosomes. Based on these findings, we disclosed that activation of DR5 is regulated by separate mechanisms in TRAIL- and 5-FU-induced apoptosis and that correct trafficking of the receptor is important for 5-FU- but not TRAIL-mediated tumor cell elimination.

8. SIGNIFICANCE OF THE STUDY

5-FU has been the mainstay of CRC treatment for over 50 years. However, due to the frequent occurrence of p53 mutations, response rates for 5-FU in advanced CRC are modest. Although combinatorial treatments have improved survival rates, there is still a need for new therapeutic strategies potent enough to compensate or bypass cell death defects and improve disease prognosis. The data relating to mechanisms of 5-FU-mediated RNA stress and death receptor activation that are presented in this thesis will hopefully contribute to a better molecular understanding of drug toxicity, which is of the utmost importance for the development of future treatment approaches.

9. FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The new mechanisms for p53 and DR5 activations indicated in paper I-II and III raise questions that may be addressed in future scientific projects.

1. With respect to DR5, how important are the processes of lysosomal exocytosis and intracellular receptor transport for oligomerization and activation?

We noticed that lysosomal accumulation of death receptors is a consequence of CQ or Baf A treatments. As we believe that a general membrane and receptor protein migration route, important for DR activation, occurs through lysosomes, our aim is to analyze the role of lysosomal exocytosis (LE) in DR activation. Exocytosis of secretory lysosomes is known to be present in all cell types and is important for cellular processes such as membrane remodeling and secretion. Quantification of LE occurring in response to DR activating toxicants will be accomplished through preloading (pinocytosis) of the cells with FITC-dextran. Loss of the dextran from the cells over time in control and treated cells will then be monitored by FACS. DR oligomerization/activation analysis will be accomplished by SDS-PAGE under non-reducing conditions. Compared with synaptic vesicle exocytosis, the molecular mechanisms underlying lysosomal exocytosis are much less understood. However, distinct sets of exocytosis machinery are employed, that will be used to specifically reduce LE in our experimental settings to further analyze the effect on DR activation and apoptosis.

2. With respect to calmodulin and post-translational modifications of p53, what is the role of Ca^{2+} in DR activation mechanisms?

The main purpose of this project is to define the molecular map indicated in paper I, leading from cytoplasmic Ca²⁺ influx via calmodulin to p53 phospho-activation, DR5 dimerization and apoptosis. The goal is to identify global phosphorylation changes between proteomes isolated from control cells, 5-FU-treated cells and treated cells where calmodulin has been silenced by means of RNAi. This will be accomplished by 2D DIGE (two-dimensional difference gel electrophoresis) followed by phosphorylated protein profiling. The experimental set up enables identification of phosphorylation events in general but also those specifically regulated by calmodulin.

10. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was performed in the Division of Toxicology, Institute of Environmental Medicine, Karolinska Institutet and was supported by grants from Karolinska Institutet Faculty Fund (KID grant), the Swedish Science Foundation, the Swedish Cancer Society (Cancerforden), The Stockholm Cancer Society (Cancerföreningen), the Swedish Childhood Cancer Foundation (Barncancerfonden), the EC-FP-6 (Oncodeath and Chemores) and EC-FP-7 (APO-SYS).

It was a privilege to work at Karolinska Institutet. During my PhD I have met with a lot of colleagues. In particular I would like to thank the following people:

My supervisor, **Boris** I will always be grateful that you accepted me as a PhD student and gave me another chance to start all over again. I have learned a lot from you, not only about science but also about life and being a leader. I hope that I have been able to hold my promise to study as hard as possible. It was amazing how you always managed to find time for me. Thank you very much for keeping the door wide-open.

My supervisor, **Magnus** The second calmest person I have ever met. I am proud to be your PhD student. I really appreciate that you have given me the freedom not to agree with you all the time. Your understanding and supportive attitude towards my failures encouraged me. You have taught me how to question my findings and made me an independent researcher.

I am and I will always be grateful to both of you for your guidance and contribution during my PhD.

Professor **Sten Orrenius** Unfortunately I did not have the chance to work with you in the same project but it was an honor to share the same corridor. I am amazed to see how a world-renowned scientist can still be so modest and kind.

I would like to thank Professor **Ulla Stenius** for her support and effort to make IMM a better institute.

My sincere thanks also goes to my external Mentor, Professor **Ralf Morgenstern**, my half time committee members Associate Professor **Kristian Dreij**, Associate Professor **Margarita Wilhelm**, Professor **Thierry Soussi** for their support and contribution to my education.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to all students involved in this project, Geylani Can, Barbora Safarikova, Iva Jelinkova and Jarmila Laukova.

Vladimir, thanks for being very kind and helpful, giving life saving tips about music and beers.

Gabi, one of the first people I have met in Stockholm and one of the best friends now. I'll always cherish our dinners and chats. Thank you for so many memories.

Jeremy, a neighbor and a very good friend. I will miss our talks about everything. I wouldn't have survived without you reminding me to eat. Thank you for helping me literally till to the last moment of the PhD.

Alexander, I do not know how to phrase. I wouldn't have done it without you. We started together and now we almost finished together. Thank you for caring so much.

Armin, the nicest student ever. I only wish that we would have had the chance to work together for a longer time. I wish you luck in your PhD.

Belen, Thanks for being only one phone call away. Thanks for being the other stranger in the lab, dancing with the lab coat. Working late would not have been fun without you.

Giulia, Alexander Yarar and George, thank you for amazing after works and sleepless nights.

I would also like to thank all the present and former members of our group Björn, Lian, Vitaliy, Kadri, Anna, Olga, Nadeem, Xinge, Caroline, Erik and Helin Norberg.

Thanks all my friends from Unit of Biochemical Toxicology and in particular **Aram** for his patience and help.

All the people at the administration of IMM, in particular Irene Tjernberg.

Thanks Linnea and Felicia, you made every day tastier with amazing coffee and smile.

Hayatımda derin izleri olan, bana meslek etiğini öğreten ve hep minnettarlik duyduğum sevgili öğretmenlerim **Prof.Dr.Azmi Telefoncu**'ya, **Prof.Dr.Gazanfer Aksakoğlu**'na ve **Prof.Dr.Rasih Yılmaz**'a çok teşekkür ederim.

Sevgili arkadaşlarıma ve özellikle Gökhan, Didem ve Ilgın'a teşekkürler.

Babama, Daha okula başlamadan Parker'ını kırdığımda bilmeliydim hükmün çoktan verilmiş, bilimin kanıma ve DNA´ma karışmış olduğunu.

Anneme, Senin tarifsiz fedakarlikların olmadan bunların ne kadarı gerçekleşirdi bilmiyorum. Dünyanın en şanslı çocuğu oldum sayenizde ve hep hissettim desteğinizi. Sizi çok seviyorum.

Cevat´a, Kardeş candır. Hayatın hep çalışmak olmadığını hatırlattığın için teşekkürler.

Tüm aileme bireylerime ve özellikle, **Ece** ve **Korkut**, Hayal gücünüzle dünyamı her gün daha da renklendirdiğiniz için, kuzenlerim, **Nebiş** ve **Fahriş**'e dostlukları için ve biricik **Dedem**'e sevgisi için çok teşekkürler.

Thank you,

Birce Akpinar

11. REFERENCES

- **1.** Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 65(2): 87-108.
- **2.** Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell, 144(5): 646-674.
- **3.** Kroemer G, El-Deiry WS, Golstein P, Peter ME, Vaux D, Vandenabeele P et al. (2005). Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death. Cell Death & Differentiation, 12: 1463-1467.
- **4.** Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Vandenabeele P, Abrams J, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH et al. (2009). Classification of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2009. Cell Death & Differentiation, 16(1): 3-11.
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Abrams JM, Alnemri ES, Baehrecke EH, Blagosklonny MV et al. (2012). Molecular definitions of cell death subroutines: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2012. Cell Death & Differentiation, 19(1): 107-120.
- **6.** Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, & Currie AR (1972). Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. British journal of cancer, 26(4): 239.
- **7.** Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S (2010). Cell cycle and cell death in disease: past, present and future. Journal of internal medicine, 268(5): 395-409.
- **8.** Thompson CB (1995). Apoptosis in the pathogenesis and treatment of disease. Science, 267(5203): 1456.
- **9.** Alnemri ES, Livingston DJ, Nicholson DW, Salvesen G, Thornberry NA, Wong WW et al. (1996). Human ICE/CED-3 protease nomenclature. Cell, 87(2): 171.
- **10.** Jin Z, El-Deiry WS (2005). Overview of cell death signaling pathways. Cancer biology & therapy, 4(2): 147-171.
- **11.** Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS (2000). Caspases–controlling intracellular signals by protease zymogen activation. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology, 1477(1): 299-306.
- 12. Degterev A, Boyce M, Yuan J (2003). A decade of caspases. Oncogene, 22(53): 8543-8567.
- **13.** Ziegler U, Groscurth P (2004). Morphological features of cell death. Physiology, 19(3): 124-128.
- **14.** Pfeffer K (2003). Biological functions of tumor necrosis factor cytokines and their receptors. Cytokine & growth factor reviews, 14(3): 185-191.
- **15.** Nagata S. (1997) Apoptosis by death factor. Cell, (88): 355–365.
- **16.** Ashkenazi A, Dixit VM (1998) Death receptors: signaling and modulation. Science, (281): 1305–1308.
- **17.** Locksley RM, Killeen N, Lenardo MJ (2001). The TNF and TNF receptor superfamily: integrating mammalian biology. Cell, 104: 487–501.
- **18.** Loetscher H, Pan YC, Lahm HW, Gentz R, Brockhaus M, Tabuchi H et al. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of the human 55 kd tumor necrosis factor receptor. Cell 61: 351–359.
- **19.** Schall TJ, Lewis M, Koller KJ, Lee A, Rice GC, Wong GH, Gatanaga T, Granger GA, Lentz R, Raab H, et al. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of a receptor for human tumor necrosis factor. Cell, 61: 361–370.
- **20.** Itoh N, Yonehara S, Ishii A, Yonehara M, Mizushima S, Sameshima M et al. (1991). The polypeptide encoded by the cDNA for human cell surface antigen Fas can mediate apoptosis. Cell, 66: 233–243.
- **21.** Oehm A, Behrmann I, Falk W, Pawlita M, Maier G, Klas C et al. (1992). Purification and molecular cloning of the APO-1 cell surface antigen, a member of the tumor

necrosis factor/nerve growth factor receptor superfamily. Sequence identity with the Fas antigen. J Biol Chem, 267: 10709–10715.

- **22.** Pan G, O'Rourke K, Chinnaiyan AM, Gentz R, Ebner R, Ni J et al. (1997). The receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. Science, 276: 111–113.
- **23.** Pan G, Ni J, Wei YF, Yu G, Gentz R, Dixit VM (1997). An antagonist decoy receptor and a death domain-containing receptor for TRAIL. Science, 277: 815–818.
- **24.** Screaton GR, Mongkolsapaya J, Xu XN, Cowper AE, McMichael AJ, Bell JI (1997). TRICK2, a new alternatively spliced receptor that transduces the cytotoxic signal from TRAIL. Curr Biol, 7: 693–696.
- **25.** Sheridan JP, Marsters SA, Pitti RM, Gurney A, Skubatch M, Baldwin D et al. (1997). Control of TRAIL-induced apoptosis by a family of signaling and decoy receptors. Science, 277: 818–821.
- **26.** Walczak H, Degli-Esposti MA, Johnson RS, Smolak PJ, Waugh JY, Boiani N et al. (1997). TRAIL-R2: A novel apoptosis-mediating receptor for TRAIL. EMBO J, 16: 5386–5397.
- **27.** Wu GS, Burns TF, McDonald ER 3rd, Jiang W, Meng R, Krantz ID et al. (1997). KILLER/DR5 is a DNA damage-inducible p53–regulated death receptor gene. Nat Genet, 17: 141–143.
- **28.** Chinnaiyan AM, O'Rourke K, Yu GL, Lyons RH, Garg M, Duan DR et al. (1996). Signal transduction by DR3, a death domain-containing receptor related to TNFR-1 and CD95. Science, 274: 990–992.
- **29.** Kitson J, Raven T, Jiang YP, Goeddel DV, Giles KM, Pun KT et al. (1996). A death-domain-containing receptor that mediates apoptosis. Nature, 384: 372–375.
- **30.** Bodmer JL, Burns K, Schneider P, Hofmann K, Steiner V, Thome M et al. (1997). TRAMP, a novel apoptosis-mediating receptor with sequence homology to tumor necrosis factor receptor 1 and Fas(Apo-1/CD95). Immunity, 6: 79–88.
- **31.** Screaton GR, Xu XN, Olsen AL, Cowper AE, Tan R, McMichael AJ et al. (1997). LARD: A new lymphoid-specific death domain containing receptor regulated by alternative pre-mRNA splicing. Proc Natl Acad Sci, 94: 4615–4619.
- **32.** Pan G, Bauer JH, Haridas V, Wang S, Liu D, Yu G et al. (1998). Identification and functional characterization of DR6, a novel death domain-containing TNF receptor. FEBS Lett, 431: 351–356.
- **33.** Thomas GS, Zhang L, Blackwell K, Habelhah H (2009). Phosphorylation of TRAF2 within its RING domain inhibits stress-induced cell death by promoting IKK and suppressing JNK activation. Cancer Res, 69(8): 3665–3672.
- **34.** Blackwell K, Zhang L, Thomas GS, Sun S, Nakano H, Habelhah H (2009). TRAF2 phosphorylation modulates tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced gene expression and cell resistance to apoptosis. Mol Cell Biol, 29(2): 303–314.
- **35.** Chinnaiyan AM, O'Rourke K, Yu GL et al. (1996). Signal transduction by DR3, a death domain-containing receptor related to TNFR-1 and CD95. Science, 274: 990–2.
- **36.** Kitson J, Raven T, Jiang YP, et al. (1996). A death-domain-containing receptor that mediates apoptosis. Nature, 384: 372–5.
- **37.** Perez C, Albert I, DeFay K, Zachariades N, Gooding L, Kriegler M (1990). A nonsecretable cell surface mutant of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) kills by cell-to-cell contact. Cell, 63(2), 251-258.
- **38.** Grell M, Douni E, Wajant H, Löhden M, Clauss M, Maxeiner B et al. (1995). The transmembrane form of tumor necrosis factor is the prime activating ligand of the 80 kDa tumor necrosis factor receptor. Cell, 83(5): 793-802.
- **39.** Chan FKM, Chun HJ, Zheng L, Siegel RM, Bui KL, Lenardo MJ (2000). A domain in TNF receptors that mediates ligand-independent receptor assembly and signaling. Science, 288(5475): 2351-2354.

- **40.** Wang L, Yang JK, Kabaleeswaran V, Rice AJ, Cruz AC, Park AY et al. (2010). The Fas-FADD death domain complex structure reveals the basis of DISC assembly and disease mutations. Nature structural & molecular biology, 17(11): 1324-1329.
- **41.** Dickens LS, Boyd RS, Jukes-Jones R, Hughes MA, Robinson GL, Fairall L et al. (2012). A death effector domain chain DISC model reveals a crucial role for caspase-8 chain assembly in mediating apoptotic cell death. Molecular cell, 47(2): 291-305.
- **42.** Hughes MA, Harper N, Butterworth M, Cain K, Cohen GM, MacFarlane M (2009). Reconstitution of the death-inducing signaling complex reveals a substrate switch that determines CD95-mediated death or survival. Mol. Cell, 35: 265–279.
- **43.** Donepudi M, Mac Sweeney A, Briand C, & Grütter MG (2003). Insights into the regulatory mechanism for caspase-8 activation. Molecular cell, 11(2): 543-549.
- **44.** Jin Z, Li Y, Pitti R, Lawrence D, Pham VC, Lill JR, Ashkenazi A (2009). Cullin3based polyubiquitination and p62-dependent aggregation of caspase-8 mediate extrinsic apoptosis signaling. Cell, 137(4): 721-735.
- **45.** Parrish AB, Freel CD, Kornbluth S (2013). Cellular mechanisms controlling caspase activation and function. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 5(6), a008672.
- **46.** Srinivasula SM, Ahmad M, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Litwack G, Alnemri ES (1996). Molecular ordering of the Fas-apoptotic pathway: the Fas/APO-1 protease Mch5 is a CrmA-inhibitable protease that activates multiple Ced-3/ICE-like cysteine proteases. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 93(25): 14486-14491.
- **47.** Hirata H, Takahashi A, Kobayashi S, Yonehara S, Sawai H, Okazaki T et al. (1998). Caspases are activated in a branched protease cascade and control distinct downstream processes in Fas-induced apoptosis. The Journal of experimental medicine, 187(4): 587-600.
- **48.** Slee EA, Harte MT, Kluck RM, Wolf BB, Casiano CA, Newmeyer DD et al. (1999). Ordering the cytochrome c–initiated caspase cascade: hierarchical activation of caspases-2,-3,-6,-7,-8, and-10 in a caspase-9–dependent manner. The Journal of cell biology, 144(2): 281-292.
- **49.** Porter AG, Jänicke RU (1999). Emerging roles of caspase-3 in apoptosis. Cell death and differentiation, 6(2): 99-104.
- **50.** Sprick MR, Rieser E, Stahl H, Grosse-Wilde A, Weigand MA, Walczak H (2002). Caspase-10 is recruited to and activated at the native TRAIL and CD95 deathinducing signalling complexes in a FADD-dependent manner but cannot functionally substitute caspase-8. EMBO J, 21: 4520–4530.
- **51.** Irmler M, Thome M, Hahne M, Schneider P, Hofmann K, Steiner V et al. (1997). Inhibition of death receptor signals by cellular FLIP. Nature, 388(6638): 190-195.
- **52.** Scaffidi C, Schmitz I, Krammer PH, Peter ME (1999). The role of c-FLIP in modulation of CD95-induced apoptosis. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 274(3): 1541-1548.
- **53.** Krueger A, Baumann S, Krammer PH, Kirchhoff S (2001). FLICE-inhibitory proteins: regulators of death receptor-mediated apoptosis. Molecular and cellular biology, 21(24): 8247-8254.
- **54.** Thome M, Tschopp J (2001). Regulation of lymphocyte proliferation and death by FLIP. Nature Reviews Immunology, 1(1): 50-58.
- **55.** Hughes MA, Powley IR, Jukes-Jones R, Horn S, Feoktistova M, Fairall L et al. (2016). Co-operative and Hierarchical Binding of c-FLIP and Caspase-8: A Unified Model Defines How c-FLIP Isoforms Differentially Control Cell Fate. Molecular Cell, 61(6): 834-849.
- **56.** Chang DW, Xing Z, Pan Y, Algeciras-Schimnich A, Barnhart BC, Yaish-Ohad S et al. (2002). c-FLIPL is a dual function regulator for caspase-8 activation and CD95-mediated apoptosis. The EMBO journal, 21(14): 3704-3714.

- **57.** Krueger A, Schmitz I, Baumann S, Krammer PH, Kirchhoff S (2001). Cellular FLICE-inhibitory protein splice variants inhibit different steps of caspase-8 activation at the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(23): 20633-20640.
- **58.** Walczak H (2013). Death receptor–ligand systems in cancer, cell death, and inflammation. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 5(5), a008698.
- **59.** Kischkel FC, Hellbardt S, Behrmann I, Germer M, Pawlita M, Krammer PH et al. (1995). Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. The EMBO journal, 14(22), 5579.
- **60.** Schleich K, Buchbinder JH, Pietkiewicz S, Kähne T, Warnken U, Öztürk S et al. (2015). Molecular architecture of the DED chains at the DISC: Regulation of procaspase-8 activation by short DED proteins c-FLIP and procaspase-8 prodomain. Cell Death & Differentiation, 60.
- **61.** Schleich K, Warnken U, Fricker N, Ozturk S, Richter P, Kammerer K et al. (2012). Stoichiometry of the CD95 death-inducing signaling complex: Experimental and modeling evidence for a death effector domain chain model. Mol Cell, 47: 306–319.
- **62.** Decaudin D, Marzo I, Brenner C, Kroemer G (1998). Mitochondria in chemotherapyinduced apoptosis: a prospective novel target of cancer therapy (review). International journal of oncology, 12(1): 141-193.
- **63.** Oltval ZN, Milliman CL, Korsmeyer SJ (1993). Bcl-2 heterodimerizes in vivo with a conserved homolog, Bax, that accelerates programed cell death. Cell, 74(4): 609-619.
- **64.** Adams JM, Cory S (1998). The Bcl-2 protein family: arbiters of cell survival. Science, 281(5381): 1322-1326.
- **65.** Kelekar A, Thompson CB (1998). Bcl-2-family proteins: the role of the BH3 domain in apoptosis. Trends in cell biology, 8(8): 324-330.
- **66.** Newmeyer DD, Ferguson-Miller S (2003). Mitochondria: releasing power for life and unleashing the machineries of death. Cell, 112(4): 481-490.
- **67.** Shi Y (2006). Mechanical aspects of apoptosome assembly. Current opinion in cell biology, 18(6): 677-684.
- **68.** Acehan D, Jiang X, Morgan DG, Heuser JE, Wang X, Akey C W (2002). Threedimensional structure of the apoptosome: implications for assembly, procaspase-9 binding, and activation. Molecular cell, 9(2): 423-432.
- **69.** McIlwain DR, Berger T, Mak TW (2015). Caspase functions in cell death and disease. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 7(4).
- **70.** Scaffidi C, Fulda S, Srinivasan A, Friesen C, Li F, Tomaselli KJ et al. (1998). Two CD95 (APO-1/Fas) signaling pathways. The EMBO journal, 17(6): 1675-1687.
- **71.** Hochreiter-Hufford A, Ravichandran KS (2013). Clearing the dead: apoptotic cell sensing, recognition, engulfment, and digestion. Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology, 5(1), a008748.
- **72.** Festjens N, Berghe T V, Vandenabeele P (2006). Necrosis, a well-orchestrated form of cell demise: signalling cascades, important mediators and concomitant immune response. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics, 1757(9): 1371-1387.
- **73.** Fiers W, Beyaert R, Declercq W, Vandenabeele P (1999). More than one way to die: apoptosis, necrosis and reactive oxygen damage. Oncogene, 18(54): 7719-7730.
- **74.** Grooten J, Goossens V, Vanhaesebroeck B, Fiers W (1993). Cell membrane permeabilization and cellular collapse, followed by loss of dehydrogenase activity: early events in tumour necrosis factor-induced cytotoxicity. Cytokine, 5(6): 546-555.
- **75.** Noda NN, Inagaki F (2015). Mechanisms of autophagy. Annual review of biophysics, 44: 101-122.
- **76.** Codogno P, Meijer A J (2005). Autophagy and signaling: their role in cell survival and cell death. Cell Death & Differentiation, 12: 1509-1518.

- 77. Kraft C, Peter M, Hofmann K (2010). Selective autophagy: ubiquitin-mediated recognition and beyond. Nature cell biology, 12(9): 836-841.
- **78.** Brech A, Ahlquist T, Lothe RA, Stenmark H (2009). Autophagy in tumour suppression and promotion. Molecular oncology, 3(4): 366-375.
- **79.** White E (2015). The role for autophagy in cancer. Journal of Clinical Investigation, 125(1): 42.
- **80.** Amaravadi RK, Thompson CB (2007). The roles of therapy-induced autophagy and necrosis in cancer treatment. Clinical Cancer Research, 13(24): 7271-7279.
- **81.** Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B (2016). Mitochondria–a switch board between various cell death modalities. Journal of World Mitochondria Society, 2(1).
- **82.** Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Dikshit R, Eser S, Mathers C, Rebelo M et al. (2015) "Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: sources, methods and major patterns in GLOBOCAN 2012."Int J Cancer, 136(5): E359-E386.
- **83.** Malvezzi M, Carioli G, Bertuccio P, Rosso T, Boffetta P, Levi F et al. (2016) European cancer mortality predictions for the year 2016 with focus on leukaemias. Annals of Oncology, 27(4):725-31.
- **84.** Edge SB, Compton CC (2010). The American Joint Committee on Cancer: the 7th edition of the AJCC cancer staging manual and the future of TNM. Annals of surgical oncology, 17(6): 1471-1474.
- **85.** DeSantis CE, Lin CC, Mariotto AB, Siegel RL, Stein KD, Kramer JL et al. (2014). Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2014. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians, 64(4): 252-271.
- **86.** Gupta GP, Massagué J (2006). Cancer metastasis: building a framework. Cell, 127(4): 679-695.
- **87.** Spano D, Heck C, De Antonellis P, Christofori G, Zollo M (2012). Molecular networks that regulate cancer metastasis. In Seminars in cancer biology, 22(3): 234-249). Academic Press.
- **88.** Boland CR, Thibodeau SN, Hamilton SR, Sidransky D, Eshleman JR, Burt RW et al. (1998). A National Cancer Institute Workshop on Microsatellite Instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. Cancer research, 58(22): 5248-5257.
- **89.** Roth AD, Tejpa S, Delorenzi M, Yan P, Fiocca R, Klingbiel D et al. (2010). Prognostic role of KRAS and BRAF in stage II and III resected colon cancer: results of the translational study on the PETACC-3, EORTC 40993, SAKK 60-00 trial. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 28(3), 466-474.
- **90.** Koopman M, Kortman G A M, Mekenkamp L, Ligtenberg MJL, Hoogerbrugge N, Antonini NF et al. (2009). Deficient mismatch repair system in patients with sporadic advanced colorectal cancer. British journal of cancer, 100(2): 266-273.
- **91.** Popat S, Hubner R, Houlston RS (2005). Systematic review of microsatellite instability and colorectal cancer prognosis. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 23(3): 609-618.
- **92.** Lanza G, Gafà R, Santini A, Maestri I, Guerzoni L, Cavazzini L (2006). Immunohistochemical test for MLH1 and MSH2 expression predicts clinical outcome in stage II and III colorectal cancer patients. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 24(15): 2359-2367.
- **93.** Samowitz WS, Curtin K, Ma KN, Schaffer D, Coleman LW, Leppert M et al. (2001). Microsatellite instability in sporadic colon cancer is associated with an improved prognosis at the population level. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers & Prevention, 10(9): 917-923.
- **94.** Bird AP (1985). CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. Nature, 321(6067): 209-213.

- **95.** Issa, J. P. (2004). CpG island methylator phenotype in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer, 4(12): 988-993.
- **96.** Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B (1983). Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature, 301(5895): 89-92.
- **97.** Hughes LA, Khalid-de Bakker CA, Smits KM, van den Brandt PA, Jonkers D, Ahuja N et al. (2012). The CpG island methylator phenotype in colorectal cancer: progress and problems. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Reviews on Cancer, 1825(1): 77-85.
- **98.** Herman JG, Umar A, Polyak K, Graff JR, Ahuja N, Issa JPJ et al. (1998). Incidence and functional consequences of hMLH1 promoter hypermethylation in colorectal carcinoma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(12): 6870-6875.
- **99.** Ogino S, Nosho K, Kirkner GJ, Kawasaki T, Meyerhardt JA, Loda M et al. (2009). CpG island methylator phenotype, microsatellite instability, BRAF mutation and clinical outcome in colon cancer. Gut, 58(1): 90-96.
- **100.** Lee S, Cho NY, Choi M, Yoo EJ, Kim JH, Kang GH (2008). Clinicopathological features of CpG island methylator phenotype-positive colorectal cancer and its adverse prognosis in relation to KRAS/BRAF mutation. Pathology international, 58(2): 104-113.
- **101.** Kern S E, Fearon ER, Tersmette KW, Enterline JP, Leppert M, Nakamura Y et al. (1989). Allelic loss in colorectal carcinoma. Jama, 261(21): 3099-3103.
- **102.** Jen J, Kim H, Piantadosi S, Liu ZF, Levitt RC, Sistine P et al. (1994). Allelic loss of chromosome 18q and prognosis in colorectal cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 331(4): 213-221.
- **103.** Boland CR, Sato J, Appelman HD, Bresalier RS, Feinberg AP (1995). Microallelotyping defines the sequence and tempo of allelic losses at tumour suppressor gene loci during colorectal cancer progression. Nat Med, 1(9): 902–909.
- **104.** Vogelstein B, Fearon ER, Hamilton SR, Kern SE, Preisinger AC, Leppert M et al. (1988). Genetic alterations during colorectal-tumor development. N Engl J Med, 319(9): 525–532.
- **105.** Choi SW, Lee KJ, Bae YA, Min KO, Kwon MS, Kim KM et al. (2002). Genetic classification of colorectal cancer based on chromosomal loss and microsatellite instability predicts survival. Clinical cancer research, 8(7): 2311-2322.
- **106.** Diep CB, Thorstensen L, Meling GI, Skovlund E, Rognum TO, Lothe RA (2003). Genetic tumor markers with prognostic impact in Dukes' stages B and C colorectal cancer patients. Journal of clinical oncology, 21(5): 820-829.
- **107.** Ogino S, Nosho K, Irahara N, Shima K, Baba Y, Kirkner GJ et al. (2009). Prognostic significance and molecular associations of 18q loss of heterozygosity: a cohort study of microsatellite stable colorectal cancers. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 27(27): 4591-4598.
- **108.** Watanabe T, Wu TT, Catalano PJ, Ueki T, Satriano R, Haller DG et al. (2001). Molecular predictors of survival after adjuvant chemotherapy for colon cancer. New England Journal of Medicine, 344(16): 1196-1206.
- **109.** Fearon ER (2011). Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease, 6: 479-507.
- **110.** Polakis P (2007). The many ways of Wnt in cancer. Current opinion in genetics & development, 17(1): 45-51.
- **111.** Aoki K, Taketo MM (2007). Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC): a multi-functional tumor suppressor gene. Journal of cell science, 120(19): 3327-3335.
- **112.** Segditsas S, Tomlinson I (2006). Colorectal cancer and genetic alterations in the Wnt pathway. Oncogene, 25(57): 7531-7537.
- **113.** Fearon ER, Vogelstein B (1990). A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. Cell, 61(5): 759-767.

- **114.** Wood LD, Parsons DW, Jones S, Lin J, Sjöblom T, Leary RJ et al. (2007). The genomic landscapes of human breast and colorectal cancers. Science, 318(5853): 1108-1113.
- **115.** Di Fiore F, Blanchard F, Charbonnier F, Le Pessot F, Lamy A, Galais MP et al. (2007). Clinical relevance of KRAS mutation detection in metastatic colorectal cancer treated by Cetuximab plus chemotherapy. British journal of cancer, 96(8): 1166-1169.
- **116.** Lièvre A, Bachet JB, Boige V, Cayre A, Le Corre D, Buc E et al. (2008). KRAS mutations as an independent prognostic factor in patients with advanced colorectal cancer treated with cetuximab. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 26(3): 374-379.
- 117. Lech G, Słotwiński R, Słodkowski M, Krasnodębski IW (2016). Colorectal cancer tumour markers and biomarkers: Recent therapeutic advances. World journal of gastroenterology, 22(5): 1745.
- **118.** Vogelstein B, Lane D, Levine AJ (2000). Surfing the p53 network. Nature, 408(6810): 307-310.
- 119. Carr AM (2000). Piecing together the p53 puzzle. Science, 10,287(5459):1765-6.
- **120.** Sherr CJ, Weber JD (2000). The ARF/p53 pathway. Current opinion in genetics & development, 1;10(1): 94-9.
- 121. Lowe SW, Lin AW (2000). Apoptosis in cancer. Carcinogenesis, 1;21(3): 485-95.
- **122.** Momand J, Wu HH, Dasgupta G (2000). MDM2—master regulator of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. Gene, 25; 242(1): 15-29.
- **123.** Greenblatt MS, Bennett WP, Hollstein M, Harris CC. (1994) Mutations in the p53 tumor suppressor gene: clues to cancer etiology and molecular pathogenesis. Cancer research, 54(18): 4855-78.
- **124.** Zhao J, Lu Y, Shen HM (2012). Targeting p53 as a therapeutic strategy in sensitizing TRAIL-induced apoptosis in cancer cells. Cancer letters, 314(1): 8-23.
- 125. Iacopetta B (2003). TP53 mutation in colorectal cancer. Human mutation, 21(3): 271-6.
- **126.** Soussi T, Dehouche K, Béroud C (2000). p53 website and analysis of p53 gene mutations in human cancer: forging a link between epidemiology and carcinogenesis. Human mutation, 15(1): 105.
- **127.** Westra JL, Schaapveld M, Hollema H, de Boer JP, Kraak MM, de Jong D et al. (2005). Determination of TP53 mutation is more relevant than microsatellite instability status for the prediction of disease-free survival in adjuvant-treated stage III colon cancer patients. Journal of clinical oncology, 23(24): 5635-43.
- **128.** Allegra CJ, Paik S, Colangelo LH, Parr AL, Kirsch I, Kim G et al. (2003). Prognostic value of thymidylate synthase, Ki-67, and p53 in patients with Dukes' B and C colon cancer: a National Cancer Institute–National Surgical Adjuvant Breast and Bowel Project collaborative study. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 21(2): 241-50.
- **129.** Russo A, Bazan V, Iacopetta B, Kerr D, Soussi T, Gebbia N (2005). TP53-CRC Collaborative Study Group. The TP53 colorectal cancer international collaborative study on the prognostic and predictive significance of p53 mutation: influence of tumor site, type of mutation, and adjuvant treatment. Journal of clinical oncology, 23(30): 7518-28.
- **130.** Elsaleh H, Powell B, McCaul K, Grieu F, Grant R, Joseph D et al. (2001). P53 alteration and microsatellite instability have predictive value for survival benefit from chemotherapy in stage III colorectal carcinoma. Clinical cancer research, 7(5): 1343-9.
- **131.** Ahnen DJ, Feigl P, Quan G, Fenoglio-Preiser C, Lovato LC, Bunn PA et al. (1998). Ki-ras mutation and p53 overexpression predict the clinical behavior of colorectal cancer: a Southwest Oncology Group study. Cancer research, 58(6): 1149-58.
- **132.** Petersen S, Thames HD, Nieder C, Petersen C, Baumann M (2001). The results of colorectal cancer treatment by p53 status. Diseases of the colon & rectum, 44(3): 322-33.

- **133.** Popat S, Chen Z, Zhao D, Pan H, Hearle N, Chandler I et al. (2006). A prospective, blinded analysis of thymidylate synthase and p53 expression as prognostic markers in the adjuvant treatment of colorectal cancer. Annals of oncology, 17(12): 1810-7.
- **134.** Elsaleh H, Powell B, Soontrapornchai P, Joseph D, Goria F, Spry N et al. (2000). p53 gene mutation, microsatellite instability and adjuvant chemotherapy: impact on survival of 388 patients with Dukes' C colon carcinoma. Oncology, 58(1): 52-9.
- **135.** Heidelberger C, Chaudhuri NK, Danneberg P, Mooren D, Griesbach L, Duschinsky R et al. (1957). Fluorinated pyrimidines, a new class of tumour-inhibitory compounds.
- **136.** Levy E, Piedbois P, Buyse M, Pignon JP, Rougier P, Ryan L et al. (1998). Toxicity of fluorouracil in patients with advanced colorectal cancer: effect of administration schedule and prognostic factors. Journal of clinical oncology: official journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology, 16(11): 3537-3541.
- **137.** Wohlhueter RM, McIvor RS, Plagemann PG (1980). Facilitated transport of uracil and 5-fluorouracil, and permeation of orotic acid into cultured mammalian cells. Journal of cellular physiology, 104(3): 309-319.
- **138.** Diasio RB, Harris BE (1989). Clinical pharmacology of 5-fluorouracil.Clinical pharmacokinetics, 16(4): 215-237.
- **139.** Longley DB, Harkin DP, Johnston PG (2003). 5-fluorouracil: mechanisms of action and clinical strategies. Nature Reviews Cancer, 3(5): 330-338.
- **140.** Santi DV, McHenry CD, Sommer H (1994). Mechanism of interaction of thymidylate synthetase with 5-fluorodeoxyuridylate. Biochemistry, 13(3): 471–481.
- **141.** Rodríguez-Bravo V, Guaita-Esteruelas S, Salvador N, Bachs O, Agell N (2007). Different S/M Checkpoint Responses of Tumor and Non–Tumor Cell Lines to DNA Replication Inhibition. Cancer research, 67(24): 11648-11656.
- **142.** Lindahl T (1974). An N-glycosidase from Escherichia coli that releases free uracil from DNA containing deaminated cytosine residues. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 71(9): 3649–3653.
- **143.** Kanamaru R, Kakuta H, Sato T, Ishioka C, Wakui A (1986). The inhibitory effects of 5-fluorouracil on the metabolism of preribosomal and ribosomal RNA in L-1210 cells in vitro. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 17(1): 43–46.
- 144. Johnston PG, Kaye S (2001). Capecitabine: a novel agent for the treatment of solid tumors. Anticancer Drugs, 12(8): 639–646.
- **145.** Giacchetti, S, Perpoint B, Zidani R, Le Bail N, Faggiuolo R, Focan C et al. (2000). Phase III multicenter randomized trial of oxaliplatin added to chronomodulated fluorouracil–leucovorin as first-line treatment of metastatic colorectal cancer. Journal of Clinical Oncology, 18(1): 136-136.
- **146.** Douillard J, Cunningham D, Roth AD, Navarro M, James RD, Karasek P et al. (2000). Irinotecan combined with fluorouracil compared with fluorouracil alone as first-line treatment for metastatic colorectal cancer: a multicentre randomised trial. The Lancet, 355(9209): 1041-1047.
- 147. Johnston PG, Lenz HJ, Leichman CG, Danenberg KD, Allegra CJ, Danenberg PV et al. (1995) Thymidylate synthase gene and protein expression correlate and are associated with response to 5-fluorouracil in human colorectal and gastric tumors. Cancer Res, 55(7): 1407–1412.
- 148. Lenz HJ, Hayashi K, Salonga D, Danenberg KD, Danenberg PV, Metzger R et al. (1998). p53 point mutations and thymidylate synthase messenger RNA levels in disseminated colorectal cancer: an analysis of response and survival. Clin Cancer Res, 4(5): 1243–1250.
- **149.** Longley DB, Ferguson PR, Boyer J, Latif T, Lynch M, Maxwell P et al. (2001). Characterization of a thymidylate synthase (TS)-inducible cell line a model system for studying sensitivity to TS-and non-TS-targeted chemotherapies. Clin Cancer Res, 7(11): 3533–3539.

- **150.** Longley DB, Boyer J, Allen WL, Latif T, Ferguson PR, Maxwell PJ et al. (2002). The role of thymidylate synthase induction in modulating p53-regulated gene expression in response to 5-fluorouracil and antifolates. Cancer Res, 62(9): 2644–2649.
- **151.** Salonga D, Danenberg KD, Johnson M, Metzger R, Groshen S, Tsao-Wei DD et al. (2000). Colorectal tumors responding to 5-fluorouracil have low gene expression levels of dihydropyrimidine dehydrogenase, thymidylate synthase, and thymidine phosphorylase. Clin Cancer Res, 6(4): 1322–1327.
- **152.** Webley SD, Welsh SJ, Jackman AL, Aherne GW (2001). The ability to accumulate deoxyuridine triphosphate and cellular response to thymidylate synthase (TS) inhibition. British journal of cancer, 85(3), 446-452.
- **153.** Evrard A, Cuq P, Ciccolini J, Vian L, Cano JP (1999). Increased cytotoxicity and bystander effect of 5-fluorouracil and 5'-deoxy-5-fluorouridine in human colorectal cancer cells transfected with thymidine phosphorylase. British journal of cancer, 80(11): 1726-1733.
- **154.** Schwartz PM, Moir RD, Hyde CM, Turek PJ, Handschumacher RE (1985). Role of uridine phosphorylase in the anabolism of 5-fluorouracil. Biochem Pharmacol, 34(19): 3585–3589.
- **155.** Houghton JA, Houghton PJ (1983). Elucidation of pathways of 5-fluorouracil metabolism in xenografts of human colorectal adenocarcinoma. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 19(6): 807–815.
- **156.** Djerbi M, Darreh-Shori T, Zhivotovsky B, Grandienn A (2001). Characterization of the Human FLICE-Inhibitory Protein Locus and Comparison of the Anti-Apoptotic Activity of Four Different FLIP Isoforms. Scandinavian journal of immunology, 1, 54(1-2): 180-9.
- **157.** Ashkenazi A, Herbst RS (2008). To kill a tumor cell: the potential of proapoptotic receptor agonists. The Journal of clinical investigation, 118(6): 1979-90.
- **158.** Perraud A, Akil H, Nouaille M, Petit D, Labrousse F, Jauberteau MO, Mathonnet M (2011). Expression of p53 and DR5 in normal and malignant tissues of colorectal cancer: correlation with advanced stages. Oncology reports, 26(5): 1091-7.
- **159.** Arai T, Akiyama Y, Okabe S, Saito K, Iwai T, Yuasa Y (1998). Genomic organization and mutation analyses of the DR5/TRAIL receptor 2 gene in colorectal carcinomas. Cancer letters, 133(2): 197-204.
- 160. Elrod HA, Fan S, Muller S, Chen GZ, Pan L, Tighiouart M, Shin DM, Khuri FR, Sun SY (2010). Analysis of death receptor 5 and caspase-8 expression in primary and metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma and their prognostic impact. PloS one, 5(8): e12178.
- **161.** Lee SH, Shin MS, Kim HS, Lee HK, Park WS, Kim SY et al. (1999). Alterations of the DR5/TRAIL receptor 2 gene in non-small cell lung cancers. Cancer research, 59(22): 5683-6.
- **162.** McDonald ER, Chui PC, Martelli PF, Dicker DT, El-Deiry WS (2001). Death domain mutagenesis of KILLER/DR5 reveals residues critical for apoptotic signaling. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(18): 14939-45.
- **163.** Bode AM, Dong Z (2004). Post-translational modification of p53 in tumorigenesis. Nature Reviews Cancer, 4(10): 793-805.
- **164.** Maclaine NJ, Hupp TR (2009). The regulation of p53 by phosphorylation: a model for how distinct signals integrate into the p53 pathway. Aging (Albany NY), 1(5): 490-502.
- **165.** Jiang C, Hu H, Malewicz B, Wang Z, Lü J (2004). Selenite-induced p53 Ser-15 phosphorylation and caspase-mediated apoptosis in LNCaP human prostate cancer cells. Molecular cancer therapeutics, 3(7): 877-84.

- **166.** Offer H, Erez N, Zurer I, Tang X, Milyavsky M, Goldfinger N et al. (2002). The onset of p53-dependent DNA repair or apoptosis is determined by the level of accumulated damaged DNA. Carcinogenesis, 23(6): 1025-32.
- **167.** Shieh SY, Ikeda M, Taya Y, Prives C (1997). DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. Cell, 91(3): 325-34.
- **168.** Banin S, Moyal L, Shieh SY, Taya Y, Anderson CW, Chessa L et al. (1998). Enhanced phosphorylation of p53 by ATM in response to DNA damage. Science, 281(5383): 1674-7.
- **169.** Zhao H, Traganos F, Darzynkiewicz Z (2008). Phosphorylation of p53 on Ser15 during cell cycle and caused by Topo I and Topo II inhibitors in relation to ATM and Chk2 activation. Cell Cycle, 7(19): 3048-55.
- **170.** De la Cruz-Morcillo MA, Valero ML, Callejas-Valera JL, Arias-Gonzalez L, Melgar-Rojas P, Galan-Moya EM et al. (2012). P38MAPK is a major determinant of the balance between apoptosis and autophagy triggered by 5-fluorouracil: implication in resistance. Oncogene, 31(9): 1073-85.
- **171.** Ganten TM, Haas TL, Sykora J, Stahl H, Sprick MR, Fas SC et al. (2004). Enhanced caspase-8 recruitment to and activation at the DISC is critical for sensitisation of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by chemotherapeutic drugs. Cell Death & Differentiation, 11: S86-96.
- **172.** Lu M, Lawrence DA, Marsters S, Acosta-Alvear D, Kimmig P, Mendez AS et al. (2014). Opposing unfolded-protein-response signals converge on death receptor 5 to control apoptosis. Science, 345(6192): 98-101.
- **173.** Bunz F, Hwang PM, Torrance C, Waldman T, Zhang Y, Dillehay L et al. (1999). Disruption of p53 in human cancer cells alters the responses to therapeutic agents. The Journal of clinical investigation, 104(3): 263-9. 175.
- **174.** Liang JT, Huang KC, Cheng YM, Hsu HC, Cheng AL, Hsu CH et al. (2002). P53 overexpression predicts poor chemosensitivity to high-dose 5-fluorouracil plus leucovorin chemotherapy for stage IV colorectal cancers after palliative bowel resection. International journal of cancer, 97(4): 451-7.
- **175.** Paradiso A, Simone G, Petroni S, Leone B, Vallejo C, Lacava J et al. (2000). Thymidilate synthase and p53 primary tumour expression as predictive factors for advanced colorectal cancer patients. British journal of cancer, 82(3): 560.
- **176.** Horn HF, Vousden KH (2007). Coping with stress: multiple ways to activate p53. Oncogene, 26(9): 1306-16.
- **177.** Hwang PM, Bunz F, Yu J, Rago C, Chan TA, Murphy MP et al. (2001). Ferredoxin reductase affects p53-dependent, 5-fluorouracil–induced apoptosis in colorectal cancer cells. Nature medicine, 7(10): 1111-7.
- **178.** Johnson TM, Yu ZX, Ferrans VJ, Lowenstein RA, Finkel T (1996). Reactive oxygen species are downstream mediators of p53-dependent apoptosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93: 11848–11852.
- **179.** Lee JM (1998). Inhibition of p53-dependent apoptosis by the KIT tyrosine kinase: regulation of mitochondrial permeability transition and reactive oxygen species generation. Oncogene, 17: 1653–1662.
- 180. Green DR, Reed JC (1998). Mitochondria and apoptosis. Science, 281: 1309–12.
- **181.** Artus C, Boujrad H, Bouharrour A, et al. (2010). AIF promotes chromatinolysis and caspase-independent programmed necrosis by interacting with histone H2AX. EMBO J, 29: 1585-99.
- **182.** Feng Z, Zhang H, Levine AJ, Jin S (2005). The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mTOR pathways in cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 102(23): 8204-9.

- **183.** Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Djavaheri-Mergny M, D'Amelio M et al. (2008). Regulation of autophagy by cytoplasmic p53. Nature cell biology, 10(6): 676-87.
- **184.** Park EJ, Min KJ, Choi KS, Kubatka P, Kruzliak P, Kim DE et al. (2016). Chloroquine enhances TRAIL-mediated apoptosis through up-regulation of DR5 by stabilization of mRNA and protein in cancer cells. Scientific reports, 6.
- **185.** Akazawa Y, Mott JL, Bronk SF, Werneburg NW, Kahraman A, Guicciardi ME et al. (2009). Death receptor 5 internalization is required for lysosomal permeabilization by TRAIL in malignant liver cell lines. Gastroenterology, 136(7): 2365-76.
- **186.** George KS, Wu S (2012). Lipid raft: a floating island of death or survival. Toxicology and applied pharmacology, 259(3): 311-9.
- **187.** Sinicrope FA, Rego RL, Halling KC, Foster N, Sargent DJ, La Plant B et al. (2006). Prognostic impact of microsatellite instability and DNA ploidy in human colon carcinoma patients. Gastroenterology, 131(3): 729-37.
- **188.** Gafà R, Maestri I, Matteuzzi M, Santini A, Ferretti S, Cavazzini L et al. (2000). Sporadic colorectal adenocarcinomas with high-frequency microsatellite instability. Cancer, 89(10): 2025-37.
- **189.** Meyers M, Wagner MW, Hwang HS, Kinsella TJ, Boothman DA (2001). Role of the hMLH1 DNA mismatch repair protein in fluoropyrimidine-mediated cell death and cell cycle responses. Cancer research, 61(13): 5193-201.
- **190.** Marin-Vicente C, Lyutvinskiy Y, Romans Fuertes P, Zubarev RA, Visa N (2013). The effects of 5-fluorouracil on the proteome of colon cancer cells. Journal of proteome research, 12(4): 196-79.